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MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Good morning, everyone, and welcome, panel.  This is the tenth day of the hearing of applications EB‑2005‑0001 and EB‑2005‑0437 submitted by Enbridge Gas Distribution.  


This morning we will begin the examination of the second panel on the corporate cost allocation.  We aim to take a break at around 10:30 and stop for lunch at 12 o'clock.


Are there any preliminary matters?  No?  Ms. Persad, are you ready to introduce your panel?


MS. PERSAD:  I am ready, thank you.


So carrying on, the second panel will be, closest to the Board, Ms. Jane Haberbusch, who is the VP of human ‑‑ sorry, the director of human resources for Enbridge Gas Distribution; Mr. Marc Lattoni, the VP of human resources for Enbridge Inc.; Ms. Bonnie DuPont, the group vice president for corporate resources of Enbridge Inc. who was here yesterday; Mr. Byron Neiles, the vice president of legal regulatory, public and government affairs for Enbridge Gas Distribution; Mr. Lino Luison, the VP of opportunity development for Enbridge Gas Distribution; and around the corner, Mr. Chuck Szmurlo, the VP of energy technology and business development for Enbridge Inc. 


If I could ask that the witnesses be sworn in, except for Ms. DuPont.


ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION INC. PANEL 6:


Jane Haberbusch; Sworn


Marc Lattoni; Sworn


Bonnie DuPont; Previously Sworn


Byron Neiles; Sworn


Lino Luison; Sworn


Chuck Szmurlo; Sworn

EXAMINATION BY MS. PERSAD:

MS. PERSAD:  Now, similar to what we did with the panel yesterday, Mr. Neiles, on behalf of the panel, could you confirm that the evidence in relation to this issue at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1 and the related interrogatories were prepared by you or under your direction?


MR. NEILES:  I can confirm that, yes.


MS. PERSAD:  And is that evidence accurate, to the best of your knowledge and belief?


MR. NEILES:  It is, yes.


MS. PERSAD:  Now, if I could ask each witness, in turn, what role do you play with respect to the services, starting with Mr. Lattoni, please?


MR. LATTONI:  Good morning.  My role is to direct the human resources and administration function at Enbridge Inc., including a variety of services that we provide offered to our business units.


The first one would be our business units' stock base compensation, which we manage on behalf of all our business units, to ensure it is competitive and that they are regularly tested in the marketplace, and it's reviewed and approved by the board to ensure effectiveness and reasonableness.  


The second service is employee development, which, as it turns out, is a bit of an age-old catch phrase that includes workforce planning, succession planning of both the senior management and cross-business unit functional levels, performance definition, performance assessment, performance management, and then employee development itself, including coaching, development opportunities and development programs.


As well, we offer the HRIS service.  HRIS is a PeopleSoft human resources management system that includes two broad functionalities:  Employee and leader access to employee records for self-service and day‑to‑day management activities; and HR administration, including payroll, benefits, performance management, pay management and overall employee record-keeping activities.


 EI also provides a variety of related services to that, including:  The interface of PeopleSoft, including negotiating and managing capital and licensing fees; the strategy of HR management systems, including the overall direction and evolution, in light of the needs of our business units, including EGD; tactical and operational leadership for the evolution of the existing system, such as improvements to existing capabilities and the addition of new capabilities to meet new demands - for example, we are currently working on significant improvements of the compensation management system; and provision of technical development services with regard to the PeopleSoft system.


We also offer HR advice, which, again, is somewhat of a misnomer, as we provide specific technical advice in support of all of the services defined in these categories, but advice in this particular context comes in three flavours.  Enbridge Inc. chairs and leads the enterprise‑wide human resources council, comprised of the senior service providers, with the EI HR team, including all of our HR business units, including Ms. Haberbusch, who is an active member of the council.  


HR council meets at least once a month and addresses business unit issues as they arise.  The HR council also coordinates enterprise‑wide initiatives, such as our enterprise-wide workforce planning model and a very recent issue surrounding our SOX-based fiduciary responsibility to conduct criminal background checks.  


Finally, HR advice also includes regarding and issue-specific meetings between Enbridge Inc. and Enbridge Gas Distribution HR staff members, a recent example being the issue of a rather complex termination situation for a mid-level Enbridge Gas Distribution employee.


We also have the labour relations and union labour relations functions.  And first may I mention that the term "labour relations" in its sole service provider description might be better defined as employee relations as to more clearly distinguish between union labour relations, which addresses defining our relationship with employees covered by collective agreements or joint industrial councils, and other employees not covered by such agreements.


The overall labour relations or employee relations service includes determining our relationship with non‑represented employees and the resulting HR strategies and programs that are unique to managing those employees.  


The union labour relations service is self‑evident.  It includes developing overall union relation and joint industrial council relation strategies.  It also includes bargaining, leadership and support, working with the leaders of our unions and JICs, and dealing with grievances and other collective bargaining matters as they arise.


Finally, the total compensation and benefit service involves ensuring that across the organization we have effective competitive, fair and performance-related compensation and benefits.  We deal with policies, strategy, program design, operation and overall fiduciary oversight of all pay across all the Enbridge companies and affiliates, including definition of comparator groups, determination of target pay levels and mix of various pay and benefit components, the termination of pay and performance strategies, and a design of various pay and benefit components, including base pay, annual incentives, mid-term incentives, long‑term incentives, various forms of health and welfare benefits, holidays and vacations, retirement programs and savings programs.  


Finally, we have a sole responsibility for managing executive and senior management rewards, and we provide advice, strategy, direction and oversight of all other reward programs and operations.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  And, Ms. Haberbusch, what role do you play with respect to these services?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Madam Chair, as the director of human resources for Enbridge Gas Distribution, I am the service recipient of all of the HR-related services that Mr. Lattoni just mentioned.  I don't believe I need to outline those services in any further detail at this time, but I would like to note that these are all essential services in the effective management of our employees.  They're fundamental to EGD's ability to be able to attract, retain, motivate and engage our employees.


Purchasing these services from Enbridge Inc. allows us to achieve these results in a very cost-effective and efficient manner.  Utilization of Enbridge Inc. as the service provider meets the OEB's three-prong test; thus providing ultimate benefit to our ratepayers.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  And now, Ms. DuPont, on this panel, what role do you play with respect to these services?


MS. DuPONT:  Madam Chair, I am going to cover off the services that are known as customer, industry and community relations, external communications, government relations and internal employee communications, and I will give you a very brief description of each of those services.

     Enbridge Inc. provides representation on EGD's behalf to major customers, suppliers, industry associations, communities and other industry stakeholders, in that it coordinates company-wide activities that affect the Ontario franchise area.  This would include the preparation of the corporate social-responsibility strategy and report.  The second annual report, about to be released in the next several weeks, provides advice and leadership in aboriginal affairs and community support, also develops relationships and identifies business opportunities to enhance the reputation of -- or strengthen the reputation of Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     I would just point to a couple of the examples, one of which is the very extensive work that has occurred with First Nations and other aboriginal groups, to ensure the mutually-beneficial results from Enbridge business endeavours.  And this has been particularly important to us as we work hard to expand the supply of natural gas by participating in the Alaska gas pipeline.  And certainly, in that specific instance, it’s been very important that we develop relationships with aboriginal groups.  

     In addition, we've worked with aboriginal groups in the Sarnia and Cornwall areas, Ontario.  A moment on the corporate social responsibility report, which is a very significant endeavour on Enbridge's part, and has, in fact, led to us being considered one of the top 100 organizations with respect to corporate social-responsibility and sustainability in the world, as recognized by the World Economic Forum, in Davos, Switzerland, in January.  This report includes all of the corporate social-responsibility activities that we undertake on behalf of Enbridge and Enbridge Gas Distribution, and includes regular reporting to our board of directors on corporate social-responsibility.  As I mentioned an extensive report, and, as well, coordination of the activities of the corporate social-responsibility advisory committee which is

well-represented -- on which Enbridge Gas Distribution is very well-represented.  

     So a very important area, one for which there is a significant allocation, but one that, certainly, adds value to Enbridge Gas Distribution and to the ratepayers of the franchise.  

     The second service that I would like to comment briefly on is external communication.  And in this particular service, Madam Chair, Enbridge coordinates the standards, development and dissemination of communications for all Enbridge entities, through a number of channels.  First of all, through the news media, all of the press releases concerning all of the activities in our business units are vetted and produced through our Enbridge Inc. offices -- advertising campaigns that are both nation-wide and international, and other channels.  

     We also, in that service, coordinate the preparedness activities for any kind of crises that may occur.  And we, also, serve as a spokesperson, or a back-up spokesperson, to EGD when those events happen.  And I’ll give you a couple of examples.   One is the 2003 blackout, and the impact that that had on our customers, and so on.  We were involved in assisting with the preparedness and the communication on that.   The SARS outbreak, several years ago -- we were involved in communication and facilitating communication on that, and also provided back-up services to the Enbridge Gas Distribution people in the event of the 2004 Peterborough flood.  

     So, a very close working relationship with the Enbridge Inc. folks involved in external communication and strong support for the Enbridge Gas Distribution function.  

     Government relations is another service, and, in this case, Enbridge Inc. supplements Enbridge Gas Distribution's focus on municipal and Ontario governments, by ensuring that the interests of the ratepayers are represented at the federal level, and in other jurisdictions -- and I would include in this case, internationally.  It conducts government contact, representation and relationship activities on behalf of EGD and other Enbridge entities, and it advances and advocates the views of Enbridge Gas Distribution, and the wider Enbridge group of companies, on such issues as natural-gas supply, and transportation, climate change and greenhouse-gas emissions.  And, certainly, the climate change and greenhouse-gas emissions are of significant importance in the ratepayers' minds, and well-addressed, as well, in all of our corporate social-responsibility initiatives.  

     And the final service that I would comment on is our internal employee communications.  Enbridge Inc. manages the dissemination of information to employees across the Enbridge group of companies, including Enbridge Gas Distribution.  We have systems that communicate corporate news, business strategies, goals and responsibilities in managing the business and serving stakeholders, including customers and ratepayers.  And it provides -- Enbridge Inc., that is, provides supervision and guidance on the writing, design, production and distribution of materials, as well as event-organizing services.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     Mr. Neiles, could you please describe your role.  

     MR. NEILES:  I represent service recipients for five services EGD requires and obtains from Enbridge Inc.  Four of them, Ms. DuPont spoke to.  

     The first is customer, industry and community relations.  And I’ll just touch on two elements.   The first is corporate social-responsibility, or “CSR”, as it’s called.  EGD requires corporate social-responsibility policies, measurement tools and reporting mechanisms.  Several years ago, EGD had its own environment, health and safety report, and the support structure and policies underneath it.  The more comprehensive EI report, to which Ms. DuPont earlier referred, replaced it and other business unit EH&S reports a couple of years ago.  CSR reporting represents the evolution of EH&S - or environment, health and safety reporting - to a broader set of measures, which also measures employee development, human rights, aboriginal relations and community development, among other measures.  Reporting of this kind, for this entity, and the standalone entities, is increasingly demanded by customers, regulators, investors, non-governmental organizations and governments, themselves.  

     The second one, industry relations:  The CEO of Enbridge Inc. and the Group vice-president of gas strategy and corporate development, through their very active roles in industry associations -- natural-gas industry associations, and the gas industry, itself, leverages intelligence and relationships which can benefit EGD and its customers.  The CEO and that Group VP, respectively, sit on the boards or are very active in the American Gas Association, the Interstate Natural Gas Association of America and the Canadian Gas Association, among others.  And you’ll hear my colleagues talk about the benefits of that involvement, a little later.  

     The second service, external communications, represents stewardship of disclosure standards, and tools required in the conduct of media relations, such as the “the NewsMeyer network” and media-monitoring services, for example, as well as the conduct of media relations, itself.  It also represents, as Ms. DuPont earlier referred, stewardship of cross-company emergency communications, preparedness and the back-up that we need in the instances of emergency incidents.  EGD formerly provided the service itself, but no longer does, still requires the service, today, and would require the service, on a stand-alone basis.  

     The government-relations service is a federal government-relations service, and EGD is impacted by federal legislation, treaties and rules, but does not possess a federal government-relations practitioner on our own staff, to advocate for the company in Ottawa.  Our focus, at the utility, is on the Ontario provincial government, and over 100 municipal governments in our franchise area, but we still need our interests advocated and represented in Ottawa.  Enbridge Inc. has an extensive federal network of government-relations contacts, very familiar with EGD and its issues.  And EGD exploits this very comprehensive resource on behalf of ratepayers.  

     EGD used this resource -- the service, itself, but reorganizations, since 1997, have allowed us to purchase the service from EI at a lower cost.  


The fourth service is employee communications and our key objective through this service is to enhance and improve business literacy of our employees.  These are services that we need to help us meet our objective of enhancing business literacy, and they're services that we do not provide at EGD, and those include an employee intranet, an employee news magazine, strategic plan information and progress updates from senior management of the firm, and the opportunity through annual employee meetings and special gatherings with the CEO and senior management of the firm to exchange information two ways about the direction and performance of the company.  These are services which would cost more to EGD to provide on a stand-alone basis than the way we currently procure it.  


The fifth service is the legal advice service.  EGD purchases legal advice from EI's law department related to pension and benefits; compensation; customer and employee policy, such as privacy policy, employee code of conduct, records retention policy and whistle-blower policy, to name some.  


The utility needs this advice.  It does not possess the capability to provide this advice on its own, and this arrangement is less expensive than expanding our law department or procuring it from outside.


MS. PERSAD:  Mr. Szmurlo, same question to you.  What role do you play?


MR. SZMURLO:  Madam Chair, I'm the VP of energy technology and business development for Enbridge Inc., and today I'm going to represent five services.  The first is emerging energy technology, which involves the research and evaluation of emerging energy technologies that have the potential to influence our strategy, and responsible for investing in those technologies where they are complimentary to our core businesses.


The second would be business development, which involves the identification of business improvement investments and their evaluation and, ultimately, their execution.  These would include greenfield projects, asset purchases and divestitures, mergers and acquisitions, and partnerships.


The third would be:  Gas supply, storage and transportation, which is the development of long‑term gas supply, storage and transportation strategies; the identification of their cost and location of supply; transportation alternatives; diversification; and insurance of gas access.


The fourth would be strategic planning, which involves the development of integrated strategies, operational activities and consolidated financial projections. 


And, finally, I will be supporting the customer, industry and community relations service, which involves the representation to major energy customers, suppliers, industry associations, communities and other companies.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  And, Mr. Luison, what role do you play with respect to these services?


MR. LUISON:  Yes, thank you.  Good morning, Madam Chair and Panellists.  As VP of opportunity development, I am the recipient of some of the services that have been described by Ms. DuPont and Mr. Szmurlo.  And I use the word "I" very deliberately, because I am, in some of these cases, the sole recipient, and in other cases I am the main conduit through which those services are provided to EGD.


Specifically, I receive the business development service, which most recently has been involved in the pursuit, among others things, of the large-scale gas‑fired generation projects in Ontario.  If these projects are successful in going ahead, they have the potential of becoming the largest customers EGD has today.


Secondly, I receive the gas supply, storage and transportation strategy service, which, among other things, has led to the pursuit of new supplies from LNG sources, and this is under way as we speak, as well as the pursuit of new transportation networks from Alaska and from the Rockies, which will again bring new sources of supply into our market, all of which, if they do materialize, will diversify the supply, hopefully stabilize prices, for our customers.


Third, I receive the strategic planning service, which aids the company in putting together a long-term vision and direction for the company, as well as the strategies for executing upon that vision.


Fourth, I receive the emerging technology service, and, as Mr. Szmurlo said, this service assists us in identifying, researching and evaluating emerging technologies that could eventually benefit our business and our customers.  A current example of this is the work that we are doing with respect to fuel cells.  Again, if this market is successful and we are able to help that new technology penetrate our market, it will result in a new source of large loads in our franchise area.


Finally, I share the customer, industry and community relations service, and most of my share of those services relate to the activities of Mr. Letwin.  


These services are all important to the company.  These services have always been performed, historically, either by the company or by an affiliate or through Enbridge Inc.  They are fundamental to us running our company and to sustaining the health of our company into the long term.  It will provide benefit to our shareholders, and they will provide benefit to our customers into the long term.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  And as I did with the first panel, I just want to ask you if you have any comments with respect to some of the points and observations that Mr. Johnson makes in his evidence.  First of all, he makes reference to several instances in which he observes that the indivisible portion of the primary service from Enbridge Inc. exceeds the directly-allocated costs for those services.  


I'm wondering if the panel has any comments with respect to the services for emerging energy technology research, first of all.


MR. LUISON:  Okay.  Let me kick this one off.  As a general comment, let me refer back to the testimony of yesterday's panel, because I think the same principles generally apply.


As has been said already, the size of the indivisible allocations to EGD generally has no relation to the proportion of directly-allocated costs with which EGD receives.  With RCAM, costs are allocated directly to recipients, when the services and their underlying costs can be specifically identified and attributed to an individual affiliate.


When this isn't the case, yet it is clear that benefits are being derived by service recipients, these indivisible costs are allocated to service recipients using some measure of relative benefits.


As Mr. Player said yesterday, to understand the allocation, you have to understand the service itself; so such is the case with emerging technologies.  We are allocated on an indivisible basis in that respect, and that's not surprising when you look at the services actually being done.  


In recent months, the service with respect to emerging technologies has been focussed on fuel cells.  If that service ‑‑ if that technology penetrates the market and we're successful in helping it penetrate the market by educating the market and by developing applications for those particular technologies, EGD will benefit.


But EGD is not the only one that benefits.  Enbridge Inc. will clearly benefit, as well; hence, it is an indivisible-type service, because it is hard to identify specifically, you know, the benefit to the individual parts.  So that's why it is indivisible and that's why it is appropriate to allocate the costs in that manner.


Now, finally, and with all due respect to Mr. Johnson, I'm sure he is a very capable witness, but I think his direct and indivisible cost arguments missed the point.  Regardless of how those costs are allocated to me, I have to satisfy myself that they are providing value.  And I am satisfied in this case they are providing value.  It is a necessary service, and there are more benefits than costs being incurred and accrued to ratepayers and shareholders.


MS. PERSAD:  Does the panel have any specific comments, then, with respect to human resource advice and the HRIS management technical support to which Mr. Johnson refers?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I can speak to those.  Let me talk about the third one first, which is human resource information system management and technical support.


PeopleSoft is a single, centralized software application that is utilized to house and manage employee data across the enterprise.  Employees and their managers have access to various types of data through the Enbridge portal.  The service provided is the development and management of this system and support for all associated technical projects that are undertaken to maximize the capability of the system.


All associated services are for the benefit of all of the users across the enterprise, so they're tracked as indivisible costs.  Provision of this service is centralized within Enbridge Inc., because it allows EGD to take advantage of significant economies of scale that this affords, and that reduces EGD's costs and that benefits ratepayers.  


The second one you mentioned was human resources advice, and I think this is more a case of the interpretation, in terms of the way the time was tracked for this service.  Unique services, meaning those only provided to EGD and no other affiliate, were tracked as direct allocations to EGD.  Services that were provided to multiple business units, including EGD, were tracked as indivisible.

     In the case of human resources advice, while the advice provided would be unique to the circumstance, the service, which is the provision of the advice, is provided to multiple affiliates, including EGD.  

     So that's why they're tracked as indivisible charges:  the advice is unique; but the service, which is what is being tracked, is common across the enterprise.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     And then, with respect to internal employee communications, does the panel have any comment? 

     MR. NEILES:  Sure.  There are identifiable efforts spent on, and benefits received from, the service, even though EGD is not assigned a direct cost for the service, and rightly so.  Employee headcount is the logical and appropriate measure for this service, as it is for all employee- or human-resources-related services, which serve and benefit all employees.  

     So what do we buy?  As I mentioned earlier, an employee news magazine, an employee intranet system, and the attendance and active participation of the CEO and some of our senior management from the corporate office at business-unit annual employee meetings and special sessions, sometimes done on a quarterly basis, to facilitate the two-way exchange of information about direction and progress of the firm.  

     This service makes employees better-informed about the organization.  It contributes to workforce morale and focus.  Focus and morale contribute to productivity, and that's a measure EGD does very well in, and that’s good for ratepayers.  Lastly, if we were to undertake this service on a stand-alone basis - because we need the service - it would cost far more to replicate the service, here, than it is to take 41 percent of that total service cost.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     And then on to page 15 of Mr. Johnson's evidence, which is a table - 2 -  that we referred to yesterday, and which he subsequently updated in his responses to interrogatories.  Does the panel have any specific comments with respect to the services in your area, in addition to the general comments that were made by panel 1, yesterday? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  There’s two that I’d like to comment on, and those are employee development and total compensation.   

     First, Madam Chair, it’s important to understand that the corporate human-resource function has two roles.  First, they're providing service to the enterprise, either as a whole, or to separate affiliates, as requested.  And those are the types of service that EGD contracts for, and receives, on an allocated basis.  But they do have a second role.  As the human resources function within Enbridge Inc. - the business unit - they're also providing services to Enbridge Inc., as their internal client, at the operational level.  And that's similar to the role that my staff and I would play within EGD.  

     So that's why there are significant allocations to the “Other Affiliates” category for a number of those services.  

     In the case of total compensation and benefits, that would include all of the administration that's associated with conducting the annual merit and incentive programs, for example.  Additionally, where employee-development services are concerned, while one of the services that Enbridge Inc. does provide is individual consulting, for business units requiring assistance to develop their business-unit-specific programs and initiatives, it's not an aspect of service that EGD requires, so we do not purchase that from Enbridge Inc.  We have our own learning and leadership function, within the utility, that develops the unique programs that EGD requires.  So we only utilize the services of Enbridge Inc. in relation to the enterprise-wide programs that all affiliates, including EGD, requires.  

     So that's why there’s, almost exclusively, only indivisible charges for this service.  It certainly doesn't mean that we neither require nor receive value for those services.  It simply means that we're purchasing the enterprise-wide service-offerings from that group.  

     MR. NEILES:  I’d like to address the external communication service and the government relations service.  

     For the external communication service, there are identifiable efforts spent, and benefits received, even though EGD is assigned only 1 percent of the direct cost.  And so, again, what do we buy, as I mentioned earlier?  This service, media relations, a disclosure network, a media-monitoring service, an emergency or incident communications back-up, are needed by EGD.  It’s a service that EI conducts for -- and the benefit of all Enbridge business units.  The costs are allocated across the company, so the size of indivisible allocations to EGD has no relation to the proportion of directly-allocated costs which EGD receives.  

     Prior to 1998, EGD employed a full-time media-relations professional, who was responsible for overall disclosure-communications for Consumers Gas.  And when the public float was acquired by Enbridge Inc., that position was not required, given the duplication with Enbridge Inc., and, through restructuring, was eliminated.  So, too, was the need for duplicative news-wire services and

media-monitoring services.  

     And therefore, on a stand-alone basis, a reversion back to that former structure to provide this service would cost ratepayers more than the share of the service we currently purchase from EI. 

     In terms of the government-relations service, as I mentioned, it’s a federal government-relations service, and we purchase it because EGD is impacted by federal legislation initiatives, laws that have costs associated with them, costs that would be borne by ratepayers.  And, for EGD, issues include -- federal issues include

climate-change implementation, support for

energy-efficiency and energy-conservation programs, investments in clean-energy technology, such as gas-fired fuel cells, and improved national regulatory harmonization with the provinces and the United States, to speed development in transportation of natural-gas supply and transportation to Ontario.  

     Therefore, it’s in the ratepayer interest that we advocate on their behalf, in the development of federal policy and legislation.  If we did not purchase this service, in the way that we do, we would need to build a federal government-relations practice in our firm, or we would have to procure that service outside, through a lobbying firm in Ottawa.  

     For example, the all-in $349,000 cost, relative to a lobbyist, if you net out GST, for example, and based on the low-end of GR practitioners at $300 an hour in Ottawa, at the current time, would give us less than four months of a lobbyist, based on a 40-hour work-week.  It’s, simply, more expensive.  

     In terms of the value that EI provides, I think one example will help Mr. Johnson, and that’s -- last year, Enbridge Inc. government-relations worked on EGD's behalf to lobby the federal government to exclude fugitive emissions - and those are leaks from cast-iron - as covered emissions under the “large, final emitter” category.  If they had not been successful in respect of this Kyoto obligation, EGD would have been required under federal legislation to go into the emissions trading marketplace, between the period of 2000 and 2012, to buy emissions credits worth $600,000, in each of those years.  So, from my perspective, that initiative, alone, pays for that service, many times over.  

     MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  

     And then with respect to other services, Mr. Johnson questions the need for the allocation, overall.  Does the panel have any comment with respect to Mr. Johnson's evidence on business development and gas supply, storage and transportation strategy? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, let me comment on that.  The bulk of the direct allocation to EGD, on those two services, comes from Ontario business development and the group VP of gas strategy -- that would be Mr. Letwin.  

     In both of those cases, those direct allocations would be more than appropriate. Ontario Business Development, of course, resides here, in Toronto, and a lot of the work that they do directly relates to EGD and its interests.  So it’s appropriate for those costs to be directly allocated, in certain circumstances.  And similarly, with respect to Mr. Letwin's costs, of course, he overseas EGD.  Mr. Schultz reports to Mr. Letwin.  And he has overall responsibility for these activities, and he is directly involved in these activities.  So again, it is more than appropriate that his costs be allocated directly to EGD.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And -- were you finished, Mr. Luison? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MS. PERSAD:  And then, with respect to customer, industry and community relations, does the panel have any comment? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Somebody forget their page. 

     MR. NEILES:  Repeat the question, please? 

     MS. PERSAD:  I was wondering if the panel had any comment, then, with respect to customer, industry and community relations? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  My apologies.  There are a number of facts that weren't acknowledged, or weren't understood, by Mr. Johnson, in this regard.  Four of them.  

     The first is that the Enbridge Inc. CEO, Mr. Daniel, is known as the CEO of the enterprise.  And when customers of EGD have an issue and want resolution, they can access him via e-mail and they can access him at home, which many of them do, on a frequent basis.  He is committed to following through on all of those calls.  


So there is an allocation for the customer support in that regard, as well as the customer actions outlined through the industry allocation.


Number 2, back to CSR, EGD, if stand‑alone, would require a CSR policy, measurement system and annual reporting, and this requires hard costs, such as people, infrastructure and printing.  As I mentioned, customers, investors, regulators, non‑governmental organizations and governance watchdogs are increasingly demanding this kind of reporting.


Three, as Canada's largest utility on a stand‑alone basis, the president would be very active in North American natural gas and energy associations, but given the intelligence network's input to advocacy afforded by EI's involvement in these associations, EGD avoids paying the full freight on membership, but enjoys the full benefits.


Lastly, the group vice president gas strategy and corporate development, given his frequent gas industry interaction, is constantly pursuing new gas supply and transportation concepts to link and diversify gas supply for Ontario.  As Mr. Luison can attest, the cost of this service is less than the effort previously undertaken at the stand‑alone utility a number of years ago and allows for more effective deployment of utility resources today.  


 MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  My final question is with respect to Mr. Johnson's comment about the amount of stock‑based compensation included in the charge to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Does the panel have any comment about this?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would like to comment on that.  First of all, Mr. Johnson, with all due respect, arrives at a faulty conclusion, because the initial fact he relies on is, in fact, incorrect.


He refers to an increase in stock option expense between 2005 and 2006 of approximately $850,000, and that is, in fact, incorrect.  There is no increase in stock option expense between 2005 and 2006.  In fact, it is a slight decrease.


That being said, however, in terms of stock‑based compensation, in general, there's a couple of points I would like to make.  First of all, the use of stock‑based compensation is very widespread in the industry, and, in fact, it's a standard form of senior compensation in many industries.  


Enbridge participates in compensation surveys on a regular basis to ensure that our compensation plans for senior management, as well as for other employee groups, are both appropriate and competitive.


Additionally, all compensation plans for senior management are approved by the Enbridge Inc. board of directors, so their oversight ensures they're both prudent and necessary for competitiveness.  


If EGD were a stand‑alone entity, we would have to provide some form of stock‑based compensation in order to be able to attract, retain and incent fully qualified talent, which would be critical for business and leadership continuity and the continued quality of service for our customers.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  Those are all my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  May I get an indication from the intervenors who would like to question this panel, how long they think they will take?  And if you have an order agreed amongst you, then that would be very helpful.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Madam Chairman.  My colleagues have been kind enough to agree to let me go first so that I can hopefully get back to Ottawa before sundown, and I am grateful for that, and then I believe Mr. Warren is to follow, and then Mr. De Vellis, and after that I'm not quite sure.  I know Mr. Shepherd expects to cross-examine, but I see he is not here at the moment.  He must have a conflict.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Mr. Dingwall, do you plan to examine?


MR. DINGWALL:  I do have cross for this panel, approximately half an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson, Mr. Warren, do you know how long you think you will take?


MR. THOMPSON:  My target is 45 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Wonderful.  Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  Fifteen minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  It's Friday.  Mr. De Vellis.


MR. THOMPSON:  I can smell the barn.


MR. WARREN:  I don't ascribe to that scepticism.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It’s uncivil.


MR. WARREN:  I was going to use that word, sir, but thank you for using it for me.


MS. NOWINA:  It was a light comment, Mr. Warren.  Mr. De Vellis?


MR. De VELLIS:  Approximately 45 minutes, as well.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, you already told me 30 minutes.  So we're just missing Mr. Shepherd.  Fine.  Mr. Thompson, would you like to proceed?


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. THOMPSON:


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I just want to record my concerns for the record with respect to the very lengthy evidence in‑chief.  The rules here call for pre-filing of evidence.  This is an important issue.  It's a technical issue. 


It's fair, in my view, for the witnesses to comment on Mr. Johnson's evidence, because that gives the sponsors of Mr. Johnson's evidence a chance to have him prepared to deal with those items.  But I just want to make this comment, and then I will get on with my cross‑examination.  I think it is unfair for us to sit here and have to listen to six witnesses read prepared text about the matters in issue here, and it's difficult for intervenors to capture all of that and to conduct an effective cross‑examination on those aspects of their testimony when the evidence has not been pre-filed.


We were given a summary of what we understood to be the examination in‑chief, which was two pages, and it was clearly not what we heard today.  So that's just, like they do in the House of Commons, preamble to my cross‑examination, but it is a concern.


MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chair, if I just might respond briefly?  I don't want to prolong this, but everything that the witnesses responded to is with respect to the pre-filed evidence.  There was no new evidence, per se, in my submission.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me move on, Madam Chair.


First of all, panel, we have, as I understand it, three buyers and three sellers of services on this panel.  Have I got that straight?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And, Ms. DuPont, perhaps I will start with you.  It looks like you're in the point person seat there.


You are a seller of services to Mr. Neiles.  Could you tell me approximately how much you sell to him, the value of the services you sell?


MS. DuPONT:  Madam Chair, approximately $600,000, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And you're also a seller to Mr. Player, and that's why you were on the panel yesterday.  He's a buyer for 10 million of services and you are the seller into that envelope, as I understood it.  Is that why you were on that panel?


MS. DuPONT:  That's why I was on that panel, Madam Chair.  I, again, think your number is subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, Mr. Player gave the number of 10 million, but I wasn't allocating all of that to you.  I just wanted to understand why you're on both panels.  You're a seller to Mr. Neiles.


So, Mr. Neiles, you're a buyer for 600,000; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct, subject to check.


MR. THOMPSON:  You also, Mr. Neiles, have a group of people within EGD that provide services of the type described this morning?


MR. NEILES:  Some, but not all.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, how many people in EGD are subject to your supervision, cost centre, whatever it is called, budget centre?


MR. NEILES:  In respect to the public and government affairs and employee communications, that would number approximately 12.  That's subject to the O&M panel's presentation next week.


MR. THOMPSON:  And are there other people that you have budget responsibility for?


MR. NEILES:  A law department of similar size and a regulatory department of approximately 22 individuals.


MR. THOMPSON:  So 12, 24, 22.  You're about 46 people in your ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  Give or take.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And, Ms. DuPont, how many people at EI are providing the service that Mr. Neiles buys, approximately?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. THOMPSON:  Do we need a huddle to determine the answer to that question?


MS. DuPONT:  Well, Madam Chairman, I would like to be as accurate as possible for the questioner.


We have a number of people, whose responsibilities include some of these services, but are not confined to these services.  And so I would say, approximately, ten people and then, in addition, participation by the corporate-leadership team-members identified in the evidence, as well as the CEO.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So ten people, plus some senior executives, spend some of their time doing things for Enbridge Gas Distribution.  Is that what I am to take from your evidence? 

     MS. DuPONT:  That is correct, Madam Chair.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And do we have any estimate of the FTE value of the time that they spend, that you are aware of? 

     MR. NEILES:  There were time studies undertaken, as outlined by panel 1, yesterday.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm asking you the question.  Do you know how much time these people spend, Mr. Neiles, for you? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, it's outlined in the evidence, the percentage of time, by service.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  No, I'm asking you.  How much -- do these ten people, plus senior executives, occupy one FTE?  Two FTEs?  You're the buyer:  I would think you would know this.  

     MR. NEILES:  The external-communication service, we purchase, directly, 1 percent of the service.  The residual -- the remainder -- the indivisible amount is spread across all companies. Government relations, we purchase 3 percent, directly.  The other indivisible.  

     Internal communications, no direct allocation, as I indicated earlier: a cost allocated by headcount.  

     MR. THOMPSON: Is this responsive to my question?  You're just reading off the allocation factors in the Deloitte study; is that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know how much time these people spend for you? 

     MR. NEILES:  They filled out time estimates. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know how much time they spend for you?  Yes or no.  

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  How much time do they spend for you? 

     MR. NEILES:  Who would you like to know about? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, you tell me they're ten people spending part of their time for EGD, and you're a buyer of that time.  Help me, Mr. Neiles. 

     MR. NEILES:  For the external-communication service of EI, 1 percent of an FTE is directly allocated to EGD.  

     MR. THOMPSON: Okay. So the percentages were percentages of an FTE, is that what you're -- 

     MR. NEILES:  That’s -- for that service, that's a percentage of the time of the CEO, and of the Manager of Media and External Relations for Enbridge Inc., Mr. Jim Rennie.  Plus, the costs, as I mentioned earlier, of a disclosure network and of a media-monitoring service.  For government relations, there are a percentage of two positions in the corporate office, plus a percentage of Ms.  DuPont's time, plus a percentage of the CEO's time, as outlined in the evidence.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Again, you’re just reading percentages from the Deloitte study.  

     MR. NEILES:  Correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let's move on.  

     Ms. -- sorry, Mr. Lattoni, you're a service provider, and Ms. Haberbusch, you're the buyer.  How much are we talking about here, roughly, dollar-wise? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  In terms of the cost of the services, it’s approximately 2.1 million for the HR-related services.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you're a seller for 2.1 million, Mr. Lattoni? 

     MR. LATTONI:  I am.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And there are EGD people that do the same kind of tasks that are described here, are there, Ms. Haberbusch? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I wouldn't say there's people that do the same tasks.  I think there are some that do complimentary tasks.  I don't believe there is duplication.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, how many EGD people perform the types of functions that are described in -- that you described this morning?  You must have a compensation, employment-development people, that kind of thing. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.  In total, there would be about five.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Five.  And does that encompass the range of functions that you discussed, which were stock-based compensation, employee-development, HRIS management and technical support, human-resources advice, labour-relations advice, total compensation and benefits, Union-labour relations:  five people? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  Some of those services don't have any counterparts within EGD, they're provided solely through Enbridge Inc.  And the other ones that I did mention, as I said, are complimentary, so they would be responsible for either implementing the programs and initiatives that would be developed at the Enbridge Inc. level, or administrating the programs, such as compensation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  How many people in EI are providing the services, Mr. Lattoni? Approximately.  

     MR. LATTONI:  There are 20 people in the group.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And do these 20 provide services to EGD and all of the other EI affiliates? 

     MR. LATTONI:  In one way or another, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So part of their time is spent on EGD requirements.  Do we have, somewhere in the record -- well, do you know how much time they're spending? 

     MR. LATTONI:  On EGD, itself --

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.

     MR. LATTONI:  -- I'd have to look through the record. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry? 

     MR. LATTONI:  I would have to review the record.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you have no -- the record prepared by Deloitte Touche; is that what you're talking about? 

     MR. LATTONI:  That is correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Do you have any idea how much time they're spending, Ms. Haberbusch, without reviewing Deloitte's records? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think it’s important to note that, as I've mentioned in my opening remarks, the majority of these services are provided across the enterprise.  So the amount of time spent, specifically, and solely, on EGD, for a unique service, is relatively small.  The amount of time those individuals are spending on enterprise-wide initiatives is the majority of their time.  And, of that, EGD is receiving an allocation.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Do these 20 people ever show up in Ontario? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Absolutely.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, they do, okay.  So you do, from time to time, see them? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  In fact, the director of labour relations resides in Ontario.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And works out of Calgary? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  Works -- well, physically, works out of our building, reports through to Calgary and provides services across the enterprise.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So EI is on-site-full time?       

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, sir.  Well, as much time as he’s in the office, when he's not involved elsewhere.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Luison and Mr. Szmurlo, can you give me the dollar amounts, and the people involved, in this service transaction -- your service transaction?  

     MR. LUISON:  Part of my answer probably won't satisfy you, Mr. Thompson, because I will rely on Deloitte's' evidence, as well, and with good reason.  After all, they prepared that evidence, having talked to myself, and having talked to the EGD service recipients, as well as having talked to the EI people who provide the service.  

     So, those costs weren’t -- and those allocations weren't just pulled out of the air.  They came from discussions with us.  So, you know, with respect to the specific costs that you were referring to - and I just will go through the evidence to make sure I get the numbers precise - on the business development, the cost is 1,167,380.  There are two people in Ontario business development who do that particular activity, and, at any point in time, it could be anywhere from 10 to 90 percent of their time devoted to business development that would serve EGD.  Right now, it’s in the order, I believe, of 10 to 25 percent.  Mr. Letwin's time would also be, roughly, about 10 percent of his time related to that Ontario business development, EGD service.  

     MR. SZMURLO:  I might add that other people contribute to the business development activity, including the CFO, or corporate controller, risk management, public affairs, communication, corporate law, labour relations and others in the corporate office.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  I was just trying to get a big picture, total.  You're buying the services, Mr. Luison.  What’s your total purchase price for all of stuff that you’re buying? 

     MR. LUISON:  The total purchase price for all of the services that I am speaking to today is roughly $3 million.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  3 million.  

     MR. LUISON:  Right. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And, Mr. Szmurlo -- 

     MR. LUISON: -- and a third of that is -- roughly, a third of that is Ontario business development.  The next biggest one would be the gas supply transportation and storage service.  That's about $6- or $7,000.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Mr. Szmurlo, you're the seller for all of those items?


MR. SZMURLO:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, how many people in EGD, Mr. Luison, are performing these kinds of functions for EGD?  How many EGD employees do this kind of work?


MR. LUISON:  Very few.  There is no redundancy here.  This is a complimentary service in some cases, and in some cases it is an exclusive service.  If I can bundle strategic planning and Ontario business development service together, for example, Mr. Thompson, Madam Chair, I have one person in opportunity development who coordinates strategic planning and also spends part of her time doing what I would term business development‑related work.  This service is almost exclusively provided by EI.  The gas supply --


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, can I just stop you there?  Opportunity development is provided almost exclusively by EI; is that what you're saying?


MR. LUISON:  No.  The business development service that we're talking about here, and that I am testifying to today, is provided almost exclusively by EI.  I have an opportunity development group that pursues organic growth opportunities and tries to add burner tips to our existing customers and to find new customers.  That's a different service.  That will be covered under the O&M panel later, next week.


MR. THOMPSON:  There is an opportunity development claimed by EGD for 18.7 million.


MR. LUISON:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is that your responsibility?


MR. LUISON:  It is, sir.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that is not one person, I would hope.


MR. LUISON:  But that is a different service than what I am talking to you today.  Today I am talking about business development service.  That is broader than what we do in the utility.  It is non‑redundant with what we do in the utility, and has an incremental cost associated with it of $1 million, which, by the way, is a lot less than market and, you know, has benefits that wildly exceed the costs.


MR. THOMPSON:  I was just trying to get the number of people in your -- under your tutelage that perform these kinds of functions.  Is it just one?


MR. LUISON:  Part of one.


MR. THOMPSON:  Part of one?


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's it.  How many, Mr. Luison, provide the service?


MR. LUISON:  By EI?


MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, Mr. Szmurlo.  I asked the wrong person.  How many are providing the service, Mr. Szmurlo?


MR. SZMURLO:  In the Ontario business development section, there are two employees, and I have additional business development employees in Calgary.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now I'm talking about business development, gas supply, storage and transportation strategy, customer, industry and community relations, emerging energy technology research and strategic planning.  Is that just one person in EGD that performs those functions, Mr. Luison?


MR. LUISON:  Okay.  Well, I will, I guess, complete the answer, Madam Chair, that I started a few minutes ago.


The Ontario business ‑‑ sorry, the business development and the strategic planning service, as I said, there is basically one person within my group that does those activities, and she is primarily focussed on the strategic planning side of that business.


On the gas supply, storage and transportation strategy service, again, there is no redundancy.  That service is a long‑term service.  I have one person, the director of energy policy, under my group, who would get involved in those types of activities in cooperation with EI, but it's largely, again, an incremental service.


What we do within the utility with my staff is largely focus on the execution of more short-term strategies and the actual day‑to‑day business of gas supply, storage and transportation arrangements.


On emerging technologies, Mr. Szmurlo can talk to how many people are in his group, but I've got probably ten to a dozen people who are technology‑based, generally.  Some of them do work on fuel cells, but, again, that service is -- the EI service is entirely complimentary and non‑redundant.  The people who work for me in EGD providing that service would be looking at educating the market and finding fuel cell applications in our franchise area, specifically.


And Mr. Szmurlo and his group, for example, would be looking more at opportunities for that technology ex‑franchise.  When you're trying to introduce a technology like fuel cell that is new to the market, it's not going to become successful based on whether or not it gets accepted in Toronto or Markham or St. Catherines.  That's a technology that has to be accepted North American-wide so the prices can come down for that technology and it can get widely adopted.  


So, again, what Mr. Szmurlo does in providing that service -- what my group does is entirely complimentary.


Strategic planning I mentioned.  Am I missing any?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm up to -- you have ten to 12 there.  I heard you mention two other people.  Strategic planning was another topic, and customer, industry and community relations.  I was trying to get sort of your complement of people that perform those functions.  I'm up to about 12 to 14.


MR. LUISON:  That would be completely erroneous.  The people in my group doing these services, for which I am paying for, the $3 million, there is zero redundancy.  None of them ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  You keep saying that.  I'm trying to get the number of people in EGD that perform these kinds of functions.


You mentioned one for business development, one for gas supply, storage and transportation strategy, and I heard you say ten to 12 for emerging energy technology research.  Did I understand that correctly?


MR. LUISON:  Mr. Thompson, you're mischaracterizing the answer.  There is a world of difference between doing similar activities and doing these activities.  I am not asking to collect costs twice.  What the people are doing, and the costs that are being covered under the O&M budget that will be presented next week, are different activities and different costs.  You keep wanting to characterize, for example, the 12 people in technology as providing the same services as the 120,000; I'm trying to collect for that service today from EI.  It is just patently wrong.


MR. THOMPSON:  How many are doing strategic planning in your ‑‑


MR. LUISON:  Part of one person.


MR. THOMPSON:  Part of one.  And how many in customer --


MR. LUISON:  In my group.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- industry and community relations?  Have you covered that or not?


MR. LUISON:  That function doesn't report to me within EGD.  But Mr. Letwin, on the EI side, provides services in that respect, and they relate to the Ontario ‑‑ they relate to the business development and the gas supply and strategy ‑‑ the gas supply strategy activities that we're also paying for.  Those are all inter-related activities, and Mr. Letwin takes a high-profile role in all of those things.


MR. THOMPSON:  Mr. Szmurlo, how many in EI performing all of the functions, business development, gas supply, transportation, storage and transportation strategy, customer, industry and community relations, emerging energy technology, research, strategic planning?  Can you just give me a rough, subject to check, number of people?


MR. SZMURLO:  Well, in business development there's approximately 12 people doing it full time, but other people throughout the organization contribute to business development, including the CFO, the corporate controller, the risk management group, public and government affairs, the law department, labour relations departments, and Ontario business development and support people.  So there's a whole host of individuals who contribute supplementary to the core group.


Within the emerging energy technology, there are five people, including myself and my assistant, who are involved in the emerging energy technology on the corporate side.


On the strategic planning, there is a group of approximately eight who are involved in the corporate office for strategic planning, but, again, like business development, many people throughout the organization are involved in strategic planning, including the CEO, treasurer, the corporate controller, and other groups contribute to the strategic planning exercise.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm just trying to get a total number, approximate number, for the services provided to EGD.  How many are involved in it, total, in your group that you sell their services to EGD?


MR. SZMURLO:  When you include all of the people, there are probably a couple hundred that are involved by the time you get involved with all of the different groups.


MR. THOMPSON:  Two hundred people?

     MR. SZMURLO:  I'm not prepared to provide a full time equivalent number.  I don't have that number available.  But if I were to include the controller's group, the law group, the public and government affairs group, the strategy groups, the -- you know, the support costs, the support groups, there are -- many people would be involved with these services.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So is the total number 200 people -- 

     MR. SZMURLO:  That are involved -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- spending part of their time for EGD?  Is that what you're telling us? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Indirectly, yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Indirectly, okay.  And how many -- do you know the FTEs for that 200? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  No, I do not.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, in total, panel, if I’ve done my addition right, Mr. Luison is a buyer for 3 million; Ms. Haberbusch, a buyer for 2.1; and Mr. Neiles, for $600,000.  That's less than 6 million, subject to check; would you agree? 

     MR. NEILES:  Subject to check. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Subject to check, sure. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And I thought we had about 10 million accounted for on yesterday's panel.  We seem to be missing about 5 million and some odd, in that, under RCAM, the amount is about 21 million -- 21.3 million.  Can somebody help me with -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't believe we included the direct costs for stock-based compensation, within the human-resource category. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's a shared accountability, between myself and finance.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  Well, let's move on.  

     Can I take it that all members of the panel are -- have a good understanding as to how the RCAM proposal made in this case is intended to operate? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And I learned yesterday that it's intended to operate in tandem with CAM.  Do I understand that correctly? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, that was discussed yesterday, by panel one.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And now am I correct that CAM -- the CAM methodology is a methodology that has prevailed for some time?  I think it goes back to either 2002 or 2003. 

     MR. NEILES:  That was discussed by panel one yesterday, yes.  And the methodology will be reviewed on Monday, by panel 3.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  Well, my point is, Mr. Neiles, and other panel members, you people have been operating under CAM for some time; is that fair? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So each of you understands how CAM works.  

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that fair? And under CAM, I understand that there is no time-keeping.  People don't keep dockets; is that fair? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's our understanding, correct.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, do you keep dockets, Mr. Neiles? 

     MR. NEILES:  No, no.      

     MR. THOMPSON:  Are you keeping dockets today? 

     MR. NEILES:  Am I, at EGD, keeping dockets? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.  

     MR. NEILES:  No.   

     MR. THOMPSON:  And will you be keeping dockets tomorrow, i.e., in the future?

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, we will be. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  And when does that start? 

     MR. NEILES:  This fall.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  This fall.

     MR. NEILES:  Just to clarify, we will be requiring an understanding of the time actually spent by EI Services, relative to that which is estimated.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So why will you be keeping dockets?  You're a buyer of services. 

     MR. NEILES:  I just clarified that we would be requiring actual time of EI service-providers, relative to their estimates.  I wouldn't be keeping the time, but I would be asking the service-provider for those actual-time allocations.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And when will you be asking them for that? 

     MR. NEILES:  Commencement, this fall.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me go back.  

     At the moment, the CAM methodology -- there are no time records -- historical time records in existence.  That was the situation in 2003 when -- sorry -- 2003, when the CAM methodology was adjudicated upon by the Board.  And it is still the situation.  Have I understood that correctly? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So there is no historic record on which Deloitte's could evaluate time being spent.  

     Now, Ms. DuPont, I take you as an example.  Do you understand that you are to start time-keeping under RCAM?  Is that your understanding of how it works? 

     MS. DuPONT:  I understand that I will keep track of my time.  And, in essence, we have done that, to some extent.  So, yes, I do understand about the need to keep track of time, Madam Chair.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And you understand it is going to commence sometime this fall?  Is that your understanding of how this is going to work?  Or are you simply going to report it to Deloitte, from time to time? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Would you repeat that question, please.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it your understanding that you are to start keeping your time in some sort of formal fashion, this fall? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I understand there will be that requirement, at some point.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But it is not in place as we speak?      

     MS. DuPONT:  I haven't been advised as to when to begin, formally.  

     MR. NEILES:  You will be able to put that question to panel 3.  My understanding is, it’s time-estimate versus a detailed time-docking.  But you will be able to put that question to panel 3.       

MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I prefaced my questions with a question whether this panel had a clear understanding of how RCAM worked.  Your answer to that was "yes", Mr. Neiles.  So I’m not interested in pumping it to panel 3, I’m interested in getting your evidence, okay?  

     Now, in terms of the CAM method, would you agree with me that CAM was the method being applied when it was agreed, in the 2005 case, that the amount to be recovered from ratepayers was $13.5 million? 

     MR. LUISON:  It's a matter of record that the CAM methodology was in place when we presented evidence for recovery of $21 million.  And it was, you know, the evidence before the Board which -- no.  It was an issue that didn't go to the Board.  We chose to settle on that $13 million number as part of an overall package.  But there is no basis in evidence on the $13 million. 

     But CAM was what was in place, historically.  I think that’s an accurate statement.  And today, CAM is still in place, but we are asking to recover costs based on the RCAM that's been put before the Board.  And that’s our evidence, today.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So the answer to my question is "yes"; correct? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  It's on the record.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.  Now, CAM is going to continue to be applied by EI in 2006.  That's on the record, as I understand it.  Does this panel agree that is going to be the situation? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And it will be applied to, ultimately, determine the amounts payable by EGD to EI.  In other words, RCAM is just an intermediate step:  CAM governs.  

     MR. NEILES:  RCAM governs the recoverable amount that this Board deems appropriate.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  But that’s the point:  you’re asking -- you're putting forward a method, in RCAM, that is simply an intermediate step to the continued application of CAM.  That's the proposal; correct? 

     MR. LUISON:  Our proposal is to put RCAM before this Board as the evidence to support the costs we would like to recover in rates.  There is a CAM in existence.  It will determine what the utility pays Enbridge Inc.  That's not the matter we're putting to the Board.  Our evidence is RCAM supports $21 million:  that's what we're asking to recover.  How Enbridge organizes its affairs outside of that, is not what we're putting before the Board. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  The point, Mr. Luison, that I would ask you to agree with, is that the RCAM method does not, ultimately, determine the amounts payable by EGD to EI.  It’s simply an intermediate step.  

     MR. LUISON:  The first part of your sentence is absolutely correct.  It -- RCAM doesn't dictate what EGD will be paying to EI.  It’s also irrelevant, because that's not what we're asking to recover from our customers in rates.  That's $21 million.  That's the RCAM number.  So, you know, that is what we're here to talk about.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I'm trying to get a correct characterization of what we're here to talk about, and I suggest to you that the company is asking the Board, in effect, to authorize the concurrent application of two corporate cost allocation methods, one of which will not have any application in determining the amounts EGD actually pays to EI.  It is simply put out there for regulatory purposes, but it's academic.


MR. LUISON:  The RCAM or the CAM?  The RCAM is academic?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes.


MR. LUISON:  You know ‑‑


MR. THOMPSON:  It doesn't ultimately determine what EGD pays to EI.


MR. LUISON:  Madam Chair, again, what we want to collect is $21 million and based on RCAM.  If we wanted to collect $24 million, we would have put the CAM methodology before the Board.  The fact that there is a difference between RCAM and CAM - and it could be higher or lower - is a variance that the management of EGD has to manage, just like we do if there is a variance in volumes, a variance in the weather, a variance in customer additions.  It is a variance in certain costs that we have to predict in advance and ultimately don't materialize, or are higher or lower.  


We as management have to manage those variances, but that is not we're asking for the Board.  That is a risk that I have to take.  It's not a risk we're asking the customers to take.  We're asking to recover $21 million using the RCAM approach.  It's as simple as that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Let me move on.  The methodology that is going to govern the amounts actually paid by EGD to EI is CAM; correct?


MR. NEILES:  Can you repeat that, please?


MR. THOMPSON:  The methodology that ultimately determines the amounts actually paid by EGD to EI is CAM?


MR. NEILES:  For services that we procure; correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  It was CAM before, and after this case is over it will still be CAM; correct?


MR. NEILES:  Correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so I suggest to you, you really have not come forward with a new cost allocation methodology to determine the amounts to be actually paid by EGD to EI.  The same methodology applies under your proposal; CAM trumps RCAM.


MR. NEILES:  As the Board will be able to examine on Monday, with the assistance of the experts who developed the methodology, there are over a thousand pages of evidence outlining the development of this methodology based on the Affiliate Relationships Code and the three‑pronged test.  So they will be able to explain, in detail to the Board, how the RCAM works.


MR. THOMPSON:  But why would the Board act on a methodology that really doesn't govern how much EGD pays to EI?


MR. NEILES:  The RCAM involves the amount for which the utility requests recovery in rates, nothing more.


MR. LATTONI:  And it's a methodology that corresponds to the instructions of the Board that we got in previous years.


MR. THOMPSON:  I'm sorry?


MR. LUISON:  It's a methodology that corresponds to the instructions we were given by the Board in previous years.


MR. THOMPSON:  What instructions were you given by the Board in previous years?


MR. LUISON:  The Board had asked that we consider producing a methodology that was service-based, and that is what we've done.  I'm going to talk about the services that I receive and what I am paying for them and what should be included in rates.  I'm not ‑‑ I'm not, you know, here to testify about what I may be charged by EI on a different approach.


MR. NEILES:  The direction referenced March 1997 decision EBRO 493/494, and outlined that we apply the three-prong test evidenced in that particular decision.


MR. THOMPSON:  But you still are applying CAM.  This is ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  Not for recovery.


MR. THOMPSON:  -- for illustrative purposes.


MR. NEILES:  Not for rate recovery.


MR. THOMPSON:  Not for rate -- all right.  Anyway, let's move on.  We know what the reality is.


I just have a few questions about the -- how this ‑‑ the Deloitte exercise worked, as far as your people ‑‑ you people are concerned.


And Deloitte, as I understand it, started with EI staff with their interviews; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so, Ms. DuPont, let me take you as an example.  Were you interviewed by Deloitte?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I was.


MR. THOMPSON:  Just give me a high-level overview of what they asked you.


MS. DuPONT:  Madam Chair, the questions were really concerning how I spent my time, questions around the various items in my specific portfolio and what a typical day, week or month might look like, from my perspective, and then specifically how much time I might spend in direct contact or in direct provision of services to Enbridge Gas Distribution and the other affiliates, and how much time I might spend on more generic activities pertaining to my portfolio.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that was all a verbal exchange between a questioner and Deloitte?  In other words, they did the recording or ‑‑


MS. DuPONT:  There was verbal exchange, interview, and then I was given an opportunity to review written material, as well, to confirm its accuracy or to make amendments, if I saw fit.


MR. THOMPSON:  At this point in time, though, you would know how much had been allocated for services for which you're a seller pursuant to CAM?


In other words, the CAM allocation takes place at the beginning of a year, as I understand it; is that right?


MS. DuPONT:  I can't say that I was aware of that number at the time of my interviews.  I don't recall the number and I cannot verify that I ever had that number.


MR. THOMPSON:  Who does the CAM allocation at EI?  Is it somebody in finance?


MS. DuPONT:  It would be someone in the controller's department.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And is the ‑‑ we know it is $24.2 million, for example, for 2005.  My understanding is that allocation is done at the outset of the calendar year.  Do I correctly understand that, or do you people know?


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So it is ‑‑ okay.  So somebody at EI does the allocation.  And under CAM, is it distributed to the so‑called service providers?  Ms. DuPont, do you get a copy of how much EI has allocated to EGD under CAM when it's ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  CAM is a departmental allocation, department, not a service-based allocation as the RCAM is. 


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So CAM is a departmental allocation.  Do you actually see it, Ms. DuPont; do you recall?


MS. DuPONT:  Well, I am trying to recall if I have seen it, and I believe that I have seen it on departmental documents. 


MR. THOMPSON:  But does it mean anything to you?  Do you say, Oh, I'm a buyer for X million for Mr. Player and $600,000 ‑‑ I'm a seller for X million to Mr. Player and some hundred thousands to Mr. Neiles?  Does it factor into your day‑to‑day operations now?


MS. DuPONT:  I would say that the awareness that we are suppliers of services is always foremost in our minds.

     I would not agree that we spend a lot of time trying to figure out the precise dollars that are involved.  I think our mandate is more around provision of those services and getting on with the job.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well back, then, to the Deloitte interview.  They enquired how you spend your day.  Did they sort of focus on -- in relation to EGD, at some point in the interview? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes.  There was an interest in services provided to EGD.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And did you give an estimate of time?  Can you recall? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I did, in the discussion.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And the time estimate was for 2006?  Or was it current? 

     MS. DuPONT:  The time estimate, as I recall the discussion -- and we're going back a little ways now -- was -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  How far back?  When was that discussion?   Excuse me for interrupting you.  

     MS. DuPONT:  Last fall -- fall of '04. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Fall of '04? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I believe so.  The discussion was around how much time I am currently devoting to those activities that would have an impact on EGD, or devoting to activities that are specifically provided for EGD, on the assumption that that would remain fairly constant -- it had been constant in the past, and it would remain fairly constant.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And what was your -- I'm sorry.         

     MS. DuPONT:  It is -- it was service-driven, and so we didn't foresee that those services would be discontinued at any point in the foreseeable future.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what was your answer?   

     MS. DuPONT:  What was my answer? 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  

     MS. DuPONT:  In terms of my -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Time.  

     MS. DuPONT:  Time?  I believe that I saw, approximately, a quarter of my time, but I would have to check my files.  I would -- I would check that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Was it one interview, or more than one? 

     MS. DuPONT:  I believe I had two interviews face-to-face.  And then I was interviewed by telephone -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right. 

     MS. DuPONT:  -- on several occasions.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And Mr. Lattoni and Mr. Szmurlo, is your experience about the same with Deloitte's? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Yes.  My experience was similar.  

     MR. LATTONI:  I joined Enbridge after the interview process had concluded, but I was asked to review the materials for HR administration, after I joined.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So you weren't interviewed?     

     MR. LATTONI:  I was not interviewed.  I was not with Enbridge at the time.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  All right.  And then Deloitte's, as I understand it, comes to EGD people with the results of their interviews with EI people.  Is that the process, Mr. Neiles? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.     

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so the -- you tell me, just give me a high-level overview of what Deloitte's said to you, when they came to see you.  

     MR. NEILES:  The first document that they provided me had no time estimates on it.  It was only the definition of services.  So they wanted to validate the definition of services, first.  

     Subsequently, the addition of services by those departments and the costs -- the loaded costs of those services were added on at a subsequent process, and I was asked to review those 

     MR. THOMPSON:  So, after interviewing EI people, Deloitte's typed up sheets for services -- based on their interviews with the service providers, typed up the sheets describing the services, and then came to EI -- sorry, came to EGD people and said, What do you think of these? 

     MR. NEILES:  They asked for validation -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Right.

     MR. NEILES:  -- of the services.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  And would you dare say no? 

     MR. NEILES:  Absolutely.  If I wasn't procuring a service, or benefiting from another indivisible amount, that was my moment to express that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Did you say "no"? 

     MR. NEILES:  I was familiar with all of the services, and in alignment with the service providers.  So, no, I did not say “no.”   They were services that myself and my department procure, that I can justify.  And I was very happy to do that.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that the same situation for you, Ms. Haberbusch, and you, Mr. Luison; approximately?  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, it was.         

     MR. LUISON:  Generally, that's an accurate portrayal.  I had the -- I guess, benefit of -- well, I ran the Ontario business development group up until January 1st of this year.  So, I got to see the process from both sides.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Sorry, you got to see the process from both sides? 

     MR. LATTONI:  Yes.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  You were an EI person, at one point?   And then you became --

     MR. LUISON:  Up until January 1st of this year.  So I spent a lot of time with Deloitte, giving them some background and history.  I've been with EGD, you know, and the EI group of companies, for 22 years.  So I have some institutional memory.  So I was able to give them some background on how these services have evolved over the years.  

     I was able to, obviously, speak for my own department and described, directly, the services that we provide in our linkages with EGD.  And then, when I took this current role, I was able to verify the other costs that were -- all the costs that were being allocated to these services, for which way was going to have to pay, and voiced my opinion.  Ultimately, I had to sign off on them.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  So did you validate the description that you provided to EI?  Is that what you're talking about?

     MR. LUISON:  That was relatively simple to do. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  That's what happened? 

     MR. LUISON:  For that particular element.  I, also, needed to validate, of course, all the other contributions that were made.   I, you know -- being -- having a good understanding of the way the company actually works, and who the people are and the services that get provided, and how, isn't a bad thing.  It was relatively straightforward for me to justify the appropriateness of the costs that were being allocated to EGD in my new role.  

     And that's why I have no hesitation sitting here and saying how appropriate they are, and the fact that we get value for the money. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.

     MR. LUISON:  It's not a bad thing. 

     MR. SZMURLO:  I think it might be worthwhile emphasizing that not all of the costs were accepted.  At the time I was the head of the planning and business development group, doing coordinated strategic planning.  And those costs which were allocated to the broad organization, including some -- ostensibly, some percentage allocation to EGD, ultimately, were not accepted through the RCAM process.  And those costs did not go through, despite my efforts to have them do so.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, we haven't got into costs yet.  The validation process, I understand, was words, only.  

     MR. NEILES:  That was step one.        

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And once words, only, were validated, then they came back with monies; is that right -- dollars? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.      

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Did you say “no”, Mr. Neiles? 

     MR. NEILES:  No.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Did anybody at EGD say “no”? 

     MR. NEILES:  I believe Mr. Mees has a list of items for which there was disagreement over some services.  You can put that question to him on Monday. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I actually said “no” to a couple of items. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, you did?  And? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I mentioned, first of all, this morning, in the evidence in-chief, that one of the services that the Enbridge Inc. employee development group provides is a specialized consulting service to develop business-units’ specific initiatives.  And I mentioned that EGD does not take advantage of that service, and does not purchase those.  

     So I excluded those, in terms of the services offered.  In terms of subsequent discussions with price, I challenged a couple of the time estimates for labour relations, being one of them -- which was reduced.  

     And I also challenged the driver -- the allocation-driver for employee development, because the implication was to use enterprise-wide headcount.  I felt it more appropriate to use non-unionized enterprise headcount, because most of those services relate more to that group of individual employees.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  You ultimately signed-off for 2.1 million? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's correct.  Plus the stock-based compensation. 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What was the initial amount? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to go back and check.  I don't have that with me, but I know there was reductions in several of the services.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is it a big reduction? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Again, I would have to check, to give you an accurate answer.  It was significant.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Well, would Deloitte know this?  Or should we ask you to check? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I believe they would have those records.       

     MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I’ll ask them, and if they don't, I’ll get an undertaking from them. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Fair enough.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Is that okay? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Absolutely.  

     MR. THOMPSON:  Anybody else say “no”, from EGD? 

     MR. LUISON:  Well, you know, with respect -- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  Don't tell me you said no, Mr. Luison:  you signed off on your own worksheet --  

     MR. LUISON:  I was -- yes --

     MR. THOMPSON:  -- they were charging too much? 

     MR. LUISON:  -- no, not at all.  Mr. Mees, of course, did the bulk of the review of the specific costs.  And as

-- 

     MR. THOMPSON:  What's that?  Mr. Mees did ‑- signed off on the dollars?


MR. LUISON:  No, no, I signed off, ultimately, and my signature appears on these schedules, but Mr. Mees spent a lot of time with each of the service providers to review the costs that were being allocated to EGD and to test the reasonableness of that.


I had an opportunity to comment on them, as well.  With respect to business development costs, the costs that RCAM produced were $2.2 million.  What we're including here is $1 million, 1,167,000, to be precise.  There was over $1 million of costs that RCAM allocated to business development and were rejected by Deloitte, and, hence, are included in what we're asking for today.  


 With respect to strategic planning again, which I am talking to, RCAM produced a cost of $700,000, and Deloitte’s review and our review internally ultimately produced a $270,000, roughly, disallowance in Deloitte’s opinion.


So what I am asking for today is $432,000, and that's what I signed off on.  So there have been some pretty material "nos" given back to corporate office with respect to the costs we're trying to collect from our customers in rates.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, the global amounts I think are in the record.  In total, I don't think they are terribly significant, but we will get that from Deloitte.


The last question I have of the Enbridge Gas Distribution people is this:  When you're presented with a description of services, the type that is provided in the evidence, and when you have people in your own department performing those kinds of services, so that there is some overlap between capacity, how do you determine that your staff is incapable of performing the tasks that EGD says it ‑‑ EI says it performs?  How do you resolve that, when EI is the corporate parent?


MR. NEILES:  As I outlined in my evidence in‑chief, I identified hard costs and individuals or positions that EGD does not possess, or possessed at one time and no longer possesses, which allows us, therefore, to buy the service that is still required at a significant discount to what it would cost to provide on a stand‑alone basis.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Perhaps I can comment on that, as well.  The reason that that is able to be done is having a clear understanding of roles and accountabilities.  Being very sure and understanding who does what in the scheme of things is what helps to be able to make that determination.  


I think I am very clear on the services that Enbridge Inc. provides and the role that my staff has, either in receiving those services and administering them, or being a component in the development of those, but under the direction of EI, or having that service provided in full by EI.


Understanding that those are -- where those hand-offs occur is absolutely able to make that distinction.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, let me ‑‑


MR. LUISON:  Can I comment on that, as well?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sure.


MR. LUISON:  Since I'm one of the recipients.


MR. THOMPSON:  I wouldn't want to shut you off, sir.


MR. LUISON:  Well, you know, again, with these services, it isn't a matter of capability, which I think you were referring to.  We've chosen not to staff our functions to perform these services.  In days past, these services were at various times performed by EGD.  


As long as I've been with the company, these services, you know, have been performed either in EGD or somewhere else.  In fact, I worked in strategic planning.  I worked in business development.  I worked in gas supply.  I know how those functions were provided in the past.  I know how much more expensive they would be if we staffed them similarly today.  


We've chosen to organize our affairs so that these services are provided at the EI level, and that way they can be provided with savings, and we can take advantage of the synergies and we get more value for the dollar.


So, again, there is no redundancy.  We have just chosen not to do those services the way we used to do them in the old days.  The old days were more expensive.  This works better for everybody.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I might also mention that at least relating to the HR services, many of those positions that had that senior level technical expertise did originally reside within Enbridge Gas Distribution and, when those functions were centralized, were actually transferred to Enbridge Inc.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Thompson --


MR. THOMPSON:  One last question.  This is my last question.


MS. NOWINA:  Is it really your last question, Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  This is really the last.  I think I am almost on target.  Maybe not, but...

     Mr. Neiles, you mentioned in‑chief, I think, that you acquire advice on privacy matters from EI; correct?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, how many lawyers are in your group?


MR. NEILES:  We have one corporate commercial at this present time.  The other is on maternity leave.  We have two regulatory and we have one corporate secretary.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So there are four lawyers?


MR. NEILES:  Five lawyers in all.


MR. THOMPSON:  Five lawyers?


MR. NEILES:  One on maternity leave at the current time.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, how did you conclude that none of your five lawyers were incapable of providing advice on privacy matters?


MR. NEILES:  They are very, very busy on other matters.  The cost to procure advice regarding privacy legislation, customer- and employee-related privacy legislation, outside would be more than the sharing of that service from the EI law department.  The same would go for code of conduct for employees, same for whistle-blower legislation, same for records retention policy.


MR. THOMPSON:  Those are my questions.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.  We will now take a break until five minutes past 11:00. 


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:50

     --- On resuming at 11:05 a.m. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Any preliminary matters before we begin?  All right.  

     Mr. Warren, are you ready to proceed? 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes, thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. WARREN:

     MR. WARREN:  Panel, I have only a very few questions, and I think they all fall within Mr. Neiles' bailiwick. 

     I would like to begin, Mr. Neiles, with a follow-on from a cluster of questions that my friend, Mr. Thompson, was asking you, just before the break, in which he was asking you about the Deloitte experience -- questions that you were asked and the answers you were given.  Do you recall that exchange? 

     MR. NEILES: Yes, sir.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, my question is, at what point in the discussion - your discussions with Deloitte - were you asked to calculate the value of the EI services to ratepayers? 

     MR. NEILES:  That was a test that I applied myself, and identified for Deloitte, which it would have, then, validated.  But that was my test - the stand-alone test - to ensure that (a), I needed the services, and (b), there was value, based on the stand-alone test, or alternative service provision. 

     MR. WARREN:  I want to be precise in my questions, so that we get, precisely, what I am driving at.  

     Did Deloitte ask you for calculation of the value of the EI services to ratepayers, as opposed to the value to Enbridge Gas Distribution? 

     MR. NEILES:  As part of the interview process, there was a question about benefits.  And I believe, if you look in the Deloitte evaluative report, they identify, themselves, the benefits that they would have calculated -- or, through discussions with service recipients, such as myself, the benefits that we had identified.  

     MR. WARREN:  Did you -- is it fair for me to take from that answer that you regard benefits to Enbridge Gas Distribution as one and the same as benefits to ratepayers? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. WARREN:  So is it fair for me, then, to conclude that there was no separate question asked by Deloitte's about the benefit of the EI services to ratepayers, as opposed to Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that fair? 

     MR. NEILES:  I regarded them as one and the same.     

     MR. WARREN:  And is it your understanding that Deloitte's regarded them as one and the same?  Or do you know? 

     MR. NEILES:  Oh, absolutely.  The three-pronged test is expressed in its direction.  

     MR. WARREN:  Sorry, Mr. Neiles, you said "no, absolutely", and I'm not sure what that’s a “no, absolutely” to. 

     MR. NEILES:  I would suggest that Deloitte's regard the utility and ratepayer interest as one and the same.  

     MR. WARREN:  Mr. Neiles, could I then turn to the micro-level, if I can, and deal, first, with the law department budget, and the allocation for EI.  And that falls within your bailiwick; am I right? 

     MR. NEILES: Correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  And am I right -- I don't know that you need to turn it up, you can take it, subject to check, but if you're skeptical about what I say, it’s at A6, tab 7, schedule 2, page 3.  And the total law department budget there is 1.829 million, of which the EI allocation is 863,000 and change.  Have I got those numbers correctly? 

     MR. NEILES:  Just let me confirm, please.  Could you give us the reference, again? 

     MR. WARREN:  Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 2, page 3.  

     MR. NEILES:  I have it in front of me.  

     MR. WARREN:  Have I correctly captured the numbers?  Total budget 1.829 million -- 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, you have.

     MR. WARREN:  -- of which an allocation from EI is 863,000; is that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, that's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  And is it your evidence, today, Mr. Neiles, that all of the 863,000 provides services that are a benefit to the ratepayers of Ontario? 

     MR. NEILES:  That number is comprised of legal advice, which I am representing this morning, and board of directors' support, which was discussed yesterday.  

     MR. WARREN:  For that portion of it which represents the legal advice, is it your evidence, this morning, that the amount constitutes a benefit to the ratepayers of Ontario? 

     MR. NEILES:  A total amount of 188,000 -- yes, correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Could I, in this context, then, ask you to turn up an interrogatory posed by my friend, Mr. De Vellis's client, which is VECC Interrogatory No. 119.  It’s Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 119.  

     MR. NEILES:  Just one moment, please.  Yes, I have it.  

     MR. WARREN:  Do the Panel Members, themselves, have it? 

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, we do.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, you were -- the question asked was to provide a detailed explanation of the services it is -- where it is expected EI would provide, in 2006, to supplement the in-house legal department of EGD.  

     And the answer is:  

“Enbridge Inc.'s corporate law department will continue to provide legal services that benefit Enbridge Gas Distribution in the following years.”   

     Now, as a logical segue from an exchange which you and I had, I take it that I can -- if we wanted to, in the second line of the preamble to the response, we could scratch out the words "Enbridge Gas Distribution" and put in “ratepayers of Ontario”, so that it would read:

“Enbridge Gas” -- sorry -- “Enbridge Inc.’s corporate law department will continue to provide legal services that benefit the ratepayers of Ontario in the following years.” 

     Fair?

     MR. NEILES:  Yes. 

     MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now let's just take them -- the six bullet items one-by-one.

     The first is the implementation of Enbridge-wide policies, including whistle-blower policy, privacy policy, statement on business conduct and Internet policy.  

     Can you and I agree that the benefit of an Enbridge-wide corporate policy is necessitated by the fact that there are more than one subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc.?  You wouldn’t need an Enbridge-wide corporate policy if there was only you; correct?

     MR. NEILES:  We would need an Enbridge Gas Distribution policy.  Correct. 

     MR. WARREN:  Now the second bullet item is negotiating discounted fees with national law firms.  Which national law firms does Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc. use? 

     MR. NEILES:  McCarthy Tetrault, Fraser Milner Casgrain.  There are others.  

     MR. WARREN:  And the total amount which Enbridge Gas Distribution pays to external law firms is, roughly, what? 

     MR. NEILES:  I'm not -- Enbridge Gas Distribution? 

     MR. WARREN:  Yes.  

     MR. NEILES:  Roughly, $120,000.  That's only of the legal department.  That does not include legal fees expended by other departments on corporate-commercial work.  

     MR. WARREN:  And what would be the magnitude of corporate-commercial work that would be done, for example, by McCarthy Tetrault? 

     MR. NEILES:  I don't have those numbers at my disposal. 

     MR. WARREN:  Would they be substantial? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  And are we to believe that, given the size of Enbridge Gas Distribution, that it does not, in and of itself, have the heft -- the bulk -- the strength, if you want, to negotiate whatever fees it wants with McCarthy Tetrault and Fraser Milner Casgrain?

     MR. NEILES: Not to negotiate the size of the discounts negotiated by Enbridge Inc. on behalf of all of its member companies. 

     MR. WARREN:  The third bullet item is ensuring consistency of legal approaches employed by all Enbridge law departments.  When you say “Enbridge” -- “all Enbridge law departments”, I take it, you mean “the law departments of all of the subsidiaries”; is that correct? 

     MR. NEILES: That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  And, again, that the need for consistency of legal approaches is driven by the fact that there are a number of subsidiaries; is that correct? 

     MR. NEILES: Could you repeat the question, please?

     MR. WARREN:  The need for consistency is driven by the fact that there are a number of subsidiaries, each with a law department; fair enough? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now the fourth is implementation of standardized corporate-secretarial processes and information-technologies applications, to increase efficiencies at subsidiary levels -- I'm sorry.  

     Standardized corporate-secretarial processes:  standardization is required because there are a number of subsidiaries with law departments; is that correct? 

     MR. NEILES:  If EGD had a fully -- full compliment -- fully-operating board of directors, it would require these services, and would have to build these processes and services itself.  


MR. WARREN:  My question, sir, is the need for standardizing.  Making them common is a function of the fact that there are several law departments; correct?


MR. NEILES:  For commonality and efficiency, for the delivery of the governance service.


MR. WARREN:  The fifth is ensuring that continuous disclosure documents that relate to Enbridge Gas Distribution are consistent with those of Enbridge Inc. and are properly prepared.  And, again, that requirement is a function of the fact that Enbridge Gas Distribution is owned by Enbridge Inc.; fair enough?


MR. NEILES:  Right.


MR. WARREN:  And the final point is access to legal precedent documents, such as agreements and corporate articles and bylaws.  I've been at this game for way too many years, sir, but ‑‑ and I'm going to ask you to respond, and this may be unfair - there is a certain note scepticism in my voice - that Enbridge Gas Distribution at this point needs Enbridge Inc. to get access to legal precedent documents, such as agreements, corporate articles and bylaws; have I understood that correctly, sir?


MR. NEILES:  My understanding from our general counsel is that there are times when own law library or ‑‑ doesn't have this type of material, or that we might require an external law firm to research this type of material for us, and, instead of doing that, he has the option of contacting EI law department to provide that service.


MR. WARREN:  Now, Mr. Neiles, in fairness to you -- Neiles, I apologize.  In fairness to you, because this may surface in my argument, and, in fairness, I would like to get your response on the record, these six bullet items strike me, sir, as requirements which arise not by the need to serve the ratepayers, but by the fact of the number of subsidiaries of Enbridge Inc. and the businesses Enbridge Inc. has chosen to get into.  Is that an unfair conclusion on my part?


MR. NEILES:  I believe it is unfair, because in each instance, the utility would have to provide these services itself through its own law department.  And, therefore, to do that, in many instances, would be replicating services, acquiring new services, spending considerably more dollars and requiring recovery of those dollars from ratepayers.


MR. WARREN:  But just finally on this point, they wouldn't have to spend any money to ensure consistency of legal approaches employed by all Enbridge law departments, would they?  If they were stand-alone, they wouldn't have to do that, would they?


MR. NEILES:  No.


MR. WARREN:  All right.  Could I turn then, Mr. Neiles, for my final series of questions to the public and government affairs portion.  And, again, does that fall within your bailiwick?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, it does.


MR. WARREN:  Again, just to make sure that I've got the numbers in this context, could you turn up Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, page 5?


MR. NEILES:  Could you repeat that, please?


MR. WARREN:  Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, page 5.  You might also put your finger on page 7 of 14.  I'm just trying to get the numbers at this stage, Mr. Neiles.


The total department budget for 2006, looking at page 7 of 14, is, roughly speaking, $6 million; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  And of that, the contribution from Enbridge Inc. is $1.139 million; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  Correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, going back to page 5, there is a description of what are described as three services performed by EI - this is in paragraph 14 - customer, industry and community relations services, external communication services and government relation services.


So there is customer, industry and community relations services.  I take it that is one.  The second is external communication services, and the third is government relation services; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  Now, just for illustrative purposes, let's deal with the government relation services.  And as I recall your testimony in‑chief this morning, what I believe you said ‑ you will correct me, I'm sure, if I'm wrong ‑ was that was in government relations with the federal level of government; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  Correct.  Very discrete.


MR. WARREN:  And all people who deal with the federal government do so discreetly, Mr. Neiles, or so they say.


Now, you used the example, as I recollect this morning, of negotiating ‑‑ I'm sorry, negotiating is probably the wrong word -- making representations to the federal government with respect to the Kyoto protocol and with respect to reduction of greenhouse gas emissions; is that fair?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  This was done on EI on behalf of EGD; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. WARREN:  In addition, I presume it was done by EI on behalf of other of its subsidiaries, including its gas pipeline business; is that fair?


MR. NEILES:  It doesn't wholly own any pipeline ‑‑ gas pipeline companies and wouldn't provide that GR service to any of those companies, sir.


MR. WARREN:  Now, my question ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  Alliance Pipeline has its own service.


MR. WARREN:  My question at a high level of generality is this:  Is it not fair to say that in all of the services that are provided under this rubric of public and government affairs, including government relations, that with the federal government, that there is a benefit which is accruing to Enbridge Gas Distribution Inc., but there is also a benefit accruing to Enbridge Inc.?  Is that not a reasonable conclusion on my part?


MR. NEILES:  To the extent that the overall operating costs of the entity is reduced, that is in the best interests of ratepayers and shareholders alike.  Yes, there is good alignment there.


MR. WARREN:  Okay.  Now, as I understand it, sir ‑‑ and in this context, you might turn up an interrogatory from my client, Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 55.  That's CCC --


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry?


MR. WARREN:  Exhibit I, tab 5, schedule 55.  It's CCC 55.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have it, Panel?


MS. NOWINA:  Just about.


MR. WARREN:  This interrogatory, Mr. Neiles, asked, in essence, whether or not Enbridge Inc. contributed to any of the $6 million budget for public and government affairs, and the answer was, no, they do not.


Now, in light of the answer you've just given me - and that is that there is a mutual benefit to EGD and EI - why is EI not contributing some portion of the $6 million, if it gets a benefit?


MR. NEILES:  Following the three‑pronged test on a stand-alone basis, the costs to provide these services and recover from ratepayers would be far higher than if we provided them or procured them in the way that we're presently doing.  So the savings are then conferred upon ratepayers.


MR. WARREN:  So it's in lieu of a contribution from EI, it's ‑‑ we're to look at some notional savings which ratepayers get; is that the idea?  Is it a contribution in kind that we're supposed to understand?


MR. NEILES:  No, it's not a contribution in kind.  It is a real cost saving that the ratepayer would otherwise have to pay, recognizing that the services are required.


MR. WARREN:  Well, my question is:  If EI is getting a benefit, which you have conceded they do, why is it not paying some of the $6 million?


MR. NEILES:  I don't understand the question.


MR. WARREN:  Well, let me give you a particular example to illustrate it.  In this context, you could turn up an answer to my friend Mr. De Vellis's clients, interrogatory 109.  It's Exhibit I, tab 25, schedule 109.

     MR. NEILES:  Did you say  “09"? 

     MR. WARREN:  109, yes.  1-0-9.  Do you have it? 

     MR. NEILES:  I do.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, the -- in the response, the first sentence says:

“While Enbridge Gas Distribution has its own external-communications activities, Enbridge Inc. manages various elements of communications, and it has the overall brand and customer experience.”

     I take it the “overall brand” is the Enbridge brand? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. WARREN:  Now, if Enbridge Inc. is enhancing the overall -- undertaking activities to enhance, among other things, its brand, my simple question is, Why doesn't it pay for that benefit, or some portion of that benefit, instead of asking EGD to pay the entire freight to enhance Enbridge Inc.'s brand?  It gets a benefit.  It’s -- I'm sorry to be so crude and stupid about this, but if you get a benefit, why don't you pay for some of it? 

     I just wanted Mr. Neiles to answer - because it's within his bailiwick - first.  If you want to add something else afterwards -- but I’d appreciate if Mr. Neiles -- this falls within your bailiwick.  

     You are paying money which, you have conceded, benefits, among others, Enbridge Inc.  And my question to you is, Why isn't Enbridge Inc. paying for some of that benefit?  Do you have an answer, Mr. Neiles? 

     MR. NEILES:  One moment.  

     I thank Mr. Luison for clarifying the question for me.  

     MR. WARREN:  I thought it was pretty clear, but I -- my thanks to Mr. Luison for helping me.  

     MR. NEILES:  We recognize that the CAM allocates costs from Enbridge Inc.  But what we're here, today, to talk about, is the RCAM, for the services that I have outlined and discussed earlier, for which we are seeking recovery from ratepayers.  And --

     MR. WARREN:  I have your answer, thank you, sir.  

     Those are my questions.  Thank you, panel.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.  

     MR. WARREN:  I wonder if I might be excused, if I give the Board my solemn promise that it’s not to go to the end of a dock and open a can of Labatt’s Blue.  It’s actually to do some work. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Even if you were going to do that, Mr. Warren, we would just be envious.  

     MR. WARREN:  Thank you, very much.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  Just as a procedural matter, I received a note from Mr. Shepherd indicating that he will have an hour and possibly more - I was told to make sure I say "and possibly more" - and is expecting to undertake his cross-examination after the lunch break, presuming a certain degree of verbosity on Mr. De Vellis’ and my own parts.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  

     Mr. De Vellis, we would like to break for lunch at 12:00, so if you have to break your cross-examination into two parts, maybe, that would be appropriate and -- whenever you feel comfortable doing that. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  I expect I should be finished by 12:00, Madam Chair.  Much of the ground has already been covered by my colleagues, this morning. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Vellis.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. De VELLIS:  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Mr. Luison, I’ll start with you.  You mentioned this morning that you -- up to January 1st of 2004, you had a position with Enbridge Inc.  

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, I was director of business development in the Ontario business development group.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And did you participate in developing service schedules for the RCAM methodology, while you were with Enbridge Inc.? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, I was.  As I said, I met a number of times with the Deloitte individuals.  The first time, to give them some history on how the -- that particular service had evolved within the Enbridge organization, to give them some insights on what we did, specifically, in Ontario.  And then, secondly, after the time-sheets were filled out, we -- I sat down with them to review those time-sheets and, again, help them understand the responses.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And just looking on your list of service schedules you’re now responsible with EGD -- for, with EGD, can you tell me which of the six -- I'm sorry, five of those -- that you were involved in, while you were with Enbridge Inc.?  

     MR. LUISON:  It would be the business development one.  And - just a second, please.  Yes, I just wanted to make sure -- and the gas supply.  Gas supply.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And -- any others? 

     MR. LUISON:  I believe not.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Mr. Neiles, I’d like to explore this issue that you were discussing this morning -- or earlier today.  I believe you said that you have your own test for determining whether the service being offered to you provides a benefit to EGD; is that correct? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, I did.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Can you turn to the Deloitte evaluation for customer, industry and community relations:  that's at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 6 --  

     MR. NEILES:  I have that.     

     MR. De VELLIS:   -- page 17.  And during yesterday's testimony, we heard that the service schedules were developed by Enbridge Inc., and then provided to the service recipients at EGD to review.  Was that your experience, as well? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, it was. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And if you look on the evaluation for the customer, industry and community relations service -- does this service fall under your -- 

     MR. NEILES:  It's a shared responsibility, with Mr. Player and Mr. Luison. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  You're one of the --

     MR. NEILES:  Service recipients. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  -- service recipients? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay. You see under -- on page 17, in the black-shaded box -- 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  -- second column from the right:  it’s the indivisible cost allocated to EGD?       

MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  $418,454.  And that is determined by formula, from what I understand, of EGD's capital employed, divided by the total capital of EI.  We'll get into the specific formula on Monday, but that’s, roughly, how it’s determined? 

     MR. NEILES:  That is correct.    

     MR. De VELLIS:  How can you, as an individual service recipient, determine the value of that indivisible cost? 

     MR. NEILES:  I know that, in respect of my area of responsibility - the corporate social-responsibility area I mentioned earlier - there would be significant costs to developing policies and infrastructure around the identification of measures, the measurement process, itself, and the reporting process.  

     So I look at part of that allocation, which would be for corporate social-responsibility, in conjunction with my colleagues, who have responsibility for customer service and industry relations, and make that judgment, recognizing that I know what it costs to provide certain services.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  That allocation is based on the amount -- the total EI budget.  It was the starting point for that allocation to EGD; is that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's right. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  You have no input or review of that total budget? 

     MR. NEILES:  The total budget for the service was reviewed with us, yes, that's correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  No, I'm talking about EI's budget.         

     MR. NEILES:  We do not review EI's budget -- 

     MR. De VELLIS:  And --

     MR. NEILES:  -- that's correct. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  And, as far as I could see, Deloitte, also, did not review EI's budget.  

     MR. NEILES:  I'm not sure.  You'll have to put that to them.  

     MR. LUISON:  Can I comment on this? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Sure.  


MR. LUISON:  Madam Chair I sat in the back yesterday and I listened to these types of questions yesterday regarding the review of the Enbridge budget.  And I guess the thought that went through my mind at the time was, if I was outsourcing these services from a third party, I wouldn't get to review their budget.  


I have to be able to satisfy myself and satisfy the Board that the costs we're paying are the appropriate amounts.  I don't get to look upstream, if you will, at the third-party providers' income statement or what their cost structure is.  I have to come to an agreement with them that either I'm satisfied and willing to pay the costs for the service provided, or I'm not.


So, you know, there were a lot of discussion ‑‑ a lot of questions about that yesterday, and I just wanted to make that point.


MR. De VELLIS:  Let me pick up on that, Mr. Luison.  Enbridge Inc. is not an arm's-length third party, is it?


MR. LUISON:  No.  It's an affiliate.


MR. De VELLIS:  You, in fact, were working at Enbridge Inc. just until January of this year, and then you moved over to Enbridge Gas Distribution and you were asked to review the same service schedules that you developed while you were at Enbridge Inc.?


MR. LUISON:  Well, I had to sign off on not only the one that I prepared, but all of the other ones that produced the costs for which I was signing off for.


MR. De VELLIS:  And there are reporting relationships from Enbridge Gas Distribution to Enbridge Inc., are there not?


MR. LUISON:  Of course.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  So your analogy to an arm's-length third-party service provider is not really apt?


MR. LUISON:  I would disagree, sir.  At the end of the day, regardless of where that cost from, whether it was an affiliate, whether it was a third party, whether it is my own staff in my own department, the Board has to satisfy itself that the cost either is appropriate or it isn't.


I have to be satisfied that I can testify to the cost that I want to have collected in rates.  So it doesn't matter where it originates from.  Is the cost reasonable or not?  Does it pass, in this case, the three-pronged test?  Do I need the service, reasonable cost, and is there, in my opinion, more benefit than cost being incurred?


So, you know, I don't think it is any different.


MR. De VELLIS:  Well, my question is:  The way it is presented to you, there is no basis for you to determine whether it's a benefit to you or not?


MR. LUISON:  Well, as I said this morning, I mean, I have direct experience in these particular activities and services being provided.  I used to do many of them myself in the past.  I am in a good position to judge how these costs compare relative to an alternative model of sourcing them, whether it is going to a third party or staffing them myself.  


I don't have any hesitation in saying that we are getting value for the money and this is the best way to approach it.


MR. De VELLIS:  Can you turn to the service schedule for customer, industry and community relations?  That's at Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 58 of 132.


The service definition describes the service as providing the required Enbridge representation to major energy customers or suppliers, industry associations, communities and other companies in the energy industry.


When you say Enbridge there, what is meant by "Enbridge"?  Is it Enbridge Inc. or Enbridge Gas Distribution?


MR. NEILES:  The enterprise, Enbridge.


MR. De VELLIS:  Enbridge Inc.?


MR. NEILES:  All of the subsidiaries.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay, thank you.  And the description includes examples of attending at CEO department industry functions, Ontario Energy Association, the CAMPUT, which I believe is the Canadian Association of Members of Public Utility Tribunals; is that right?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct. 


MR. De VELLIS:  Public Policy Forum.


Is EGD a member of the Ontario Energy Association?


MR. NEILES:  It is.


MR. De VELLIS:  Mr. Neiles, are you the official representative for EGD on the OEA?


MR. NEILES:  The president, Mr. Schultz, is.


MR. De VELLIS:  Sorry, you're the president?


MR. NEILES:  No, the president, Mr. Schultz, is.


MR. De VELLIS:  Oh, Mr. Schultz is.  I beg your pardon.  And does EGD have its own department of public and government affairs?


MR. NEILES:  It does.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  And if you turn up exhibit ‑‑ do you have the O&M budget for the public and government affairs department?


MR. NEILES:  Could you give us a reference, please?


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  I beg your pardon.  It is Exhibit A6, tab 7, schedule 3, page 11 of 14.  Do you have that?


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Do the members of the Board Panel have it?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  A6, tab 7, schedule ‑‑


MR. De VELLIS:  Three.


MS. NOWINA:  Three?


MR. De VELLIS:  Page 11 of 14.


MS. NOWINA:  We're okay.


MR. De VELLIS:  The amount to Enbridge Inc. at the bottom of the table is $1.1 million?


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Can you tell me where -- what that is made up of, which services?


MR. NEILES:  That would be made up of allocations for the customer, industry and communication service, external communication service, the federal government relations service and the internal employee communication service.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, there is a budget there -- line item within that budget, of 559,000 for government and media relations.


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  How does that differ from the services provided from Enbridge Inc. for the benefit of EGD?


MR. NEILES:  There is no provision of federal government relations, advocacy or representation, in the EGD budget.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, the description at page 58 indicates that the ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  The reference, please?


MR. De VELLIS:  I'm sorry.  Going back to the service schedule.


MR. NEILES:  I have that.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Page 58 of A6, tab 10, schedule 1 describes the services provided by the VP of gas, group VP of gas strategy.


MR. NEILES:  Correct.


MR. De VELLIS:  Now, I believe, Mr. Luison, you mentioned earlier that the services provided by -- that would be, Mr. Letwin? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. De VELLIS:    -- are valuable to the organization, that they -- he oversees Mr. Schultz, who reports to Mr. Letwin.  

     Do you have the CAM report with you?  It’s at tab 5 of our Exhibit K9.2, from yesterday.  

     MR. LUISON:  The RCAM report? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  No.  The CAM report -- the Deloitte CAM evaluation.  

     MR. LUISON:  Okay.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  And so, if you just leave the service schedule handy - because I will be going back to that -- 

     MR. LUISON:  That's page 58? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  

     MR. LUISON:  Sure.  

     MR. De VELLIS:    -- going from the back of tab 5, because there’s more than one -- it's page 63, but there’s more than one “page 63", so, if you start from the back --  

     MR. LUISON:  The page that’s -- that starts off "item 39"? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.  Group VP gas strategy corporate development. 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  The - under paragraph 39 -- well, beginning at 39.2, and, at 39.2.1, “costs incurred”:

“At the current time, there is inadequate support to demonstrate that this service would be required by EGD as a stand-alone utility.”  

     And I suggest to you that the reason for that was, Mr. Schultz is the head of EGD, and he wouldn't need someone to report to, if EGD was a stand-alone utility. 

     MR. LUISON:  I'm sorry, you're not trying to relate this back to -- 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well -- 

     MR. LUISON:  -- our evidence on customer, industry and community relations? 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, only that, insofar as that’s a component of that service.  But that department provides -- is a component of other service schedules, as well.  

     MR. LUISON:  This is a separate study.  This, is frankly, the first time I've even looked at this page.  I don't see what relevance it has to the costs, you know, I'm here to testify to.  If there’s a connection, I'm glad to talk to it.  

     You know, whether or not Mr. Schultz reports to Mr. Letwin, I mean, Mr. Schultz would always have either a board of directors to report to, if it was a stand-alone entity, or -- so there’s someone above him.  So, you know, I hope that answers --

     MR. De VELLIS:  Well, no, no --

     MR. LUISON:  -- the first part of your question. 

     MR. De VELLIS:    -- well, no.  If EGD was a stand-alone entity, he would report to the board of directors.  

     MR. LUISON:  Correct. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  Which I assume he does, now, as well. 

     MR. LUISON:  Correct.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  Right.  So that cost has already been included in EGD's budget -- the cost of him reporting to the board of directors. 

     MR. LUISON:  A part’s attributed to EGD, yes. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  And as far as your earlier comment, you're here to testify as to the value of the services being "offered to you by Enbridge Inc.".  And there is a previous evaluation done, approximately - is it a year and a half ago? - which said that a significant portion of those services should not be allocated to Enbridge Gas Distribution.  

     MR. LUISON:  Well, to be helpful, let me try answering the question this way.  

     Where you referred me to, on -- under section 39, page 63, was a commentary, at 39.2.1, that referred to the management of EGD, president-service description.  

     So, as I said, I'm not here to testify to that.  I don't know what was behind EGD's -- or, sorry, Deloitte's, you know, thinking -- or analysis to come up with that opinion.  

     I can talk to the group VP gas-strategy and corporate-development service that's being charged for, here, under “customer, industry and community relations.”  You know, that's a $200,000 cost that's being allocated, which I’m very familiar with, simply because I've worked so closely with Mr. Letwin for the last few years, and I'm intimately familiar with some of the activities that he performs on -- in delivering this particular service.  

     You know, I can cite specific examples.  For example, when we met with the Ministry of Energy of other provinces in regards to certain projects.  I can cite certain examples where we met senior executives of other companies we were looking to partner with, to pursue certain business-development activities that would have been to the benefit of EGT --EGD.  He was at those meetings, and I was at those meetings, so I know his role 

     His role with respect to talking to federal-government officials, both American and Canadian, with respect to the Alaska pipeline -- those are a matter of public record.  They have been widely-reported in the press.  

     So those are the kind of activities that Mr. Letwin does, you know, in helping deliver this customer, industry and community relations service, and as it relates to EGD, specifically.  And that's what we're being charged $200,000 for, and the fact that he is responsible, corporately, for EGD, in its totality -- you know, that just means that he knows it, you know, as well as anybody, and is able to be very effective as an advocate on behalf of EGD 

     MR. De VELLIS:  If you could turn back to the service schedule now, back to A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 59.  There are described the services provided by the Group VP corporate services department.  

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  And as I read those -- aren't those PR functions for Enbridge Inc.? 

     MR. NEILES:  They are policy and communications services for all of the Enbridge entities, in respect of corporate social-responsibility policy, performance metric-setting and measurement. 

     MR. De VELLIS:  And getting back to Mr. Warren's question earlier, those are designed to build the Enbridge brand? 

     MR. NEILES:  No.  They are designed to respond to the increasing demands of corporate governance watchdogs, regulators, customers, governments, non-governmental organizations for measurements of corporate performance, including EGD.  

     MS. DuPONT:  And also geared towards making sure that we are relating, in a very positive and constructive way, Madam Chairman, to the various stakeholders that we will work with, as we expand our business.  And I think a good point of reference for you here - and it's been alluded to earlier - is the increasing demand for natural gas, that we are trying to respond to by being involved in the Alaska gas pipeline, for example, and the demands that are upon us, in terms of working with aboriginal groups, working with environmental non-governmental agencies, and so on.  

     And so a lot of the work that is carried on in this service description addresses those types of matters, on a prospective basis, with a view to -- I think as mentioned, also, by Mr. Szmurlo, with a view to expanding our business and furthering our interests, on behalf of the entire company.  

     And, if you were talking about the benefit to Enbridge Gas Distribution, in terms of that expansion, it's not difficult to make the leap to the benefit to the ratepayer of a greater security and diversity of supply of natural gas.  So that's -- those are the kind of activities -- that's the kind of long-term view that is held by the individuals who are carrying out the activities that are described herein.  

     MR. De VELLIS:  All right.  

     My final area of questioning, Madam Chair.  

     If you can go to the service schedule for business development. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Reference, Mr. De Vellis? 


MR. De VELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  It is at page 46 of appendix 1.


And the service definition, as examples of business development activities, include asset purchases, company mergers, acquisitions, divestitures and partnerships.


Has Enbridge Gas Distribution undertaken any mergers, acquisitions or divestitures in the past year or so?


MR. LUISON:  EGD, specifically?


MR. De VELLIS:  Yes.


MR. LUISON:  The last acquisition that was done by EGD specifically would have been roughly at 2002.  There was a small, privately-held gas distribution franchise in the Fonthill area called Wellandport Gas.


My recollection was that that was, you know, 1,500 or so residential customers, and it was, as I said, privately operated.  And it was in quite a bit of disrepair, frankly, and we acquired that small franchise and rolled it into EGD, generally.


MR. De VELLIS:  Okay.  Sorry, was that 2002?


MR. LUISON:  That was 2002.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.  Those are my questions, Madam Chair.  Thank you, panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. De Vellis.  Mr. Dingwall, we will take your questions after lunch, then, and we will now break until 1:15.


MR. De VELLIS:  If I may be excused, Madam Chair.


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. De VELLIS:  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:00 p.m.

     --- On resuming at 1:15 p.m.    

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

     Are there any preliminary matters before we resume? 

     I'm assuming the order will be Mr. Dingwall, and then Mr. Shepherd; is that correct? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's correct.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Dingwall, do you want to proceed?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madame Chair.  

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  Panel, good afternoon.  I'm here in the capacity as -- of counsel to Canadian Manufacturers and Exporters.  Now, I believe there was some discussion of efforts made by Enbridge Inc. to espouse the interests of ratepayers with the federal government in respect of climate change.   

     Can you give me a little bit more information on that, Mr. Neiles?  

     MR. NEILES:  What kind of information would be helpful? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Why don't you tell me what types of use the company is -- or, rather, the affiliate is putting forward to the federal government?  

     MR. NEILES:  Well, in respect of the example I provided this morning, it was with respect to the classification of fugitive emissions, under the “large final emitter” category.  And in that respect, Enbridge Inc. was able to convince Environment Canada and Natural Resources Canada to exclude fugitive emissions from that reporting, which would have resulted in Enbridge Gas Distribution having to purchase emissions credits worth $600,000 per year, between the period 2008 and 2012.  

     Secondly, Enbridge Inc. represents Enbridge Gas Distribution's stellar experience in conservation management and demand-side management and energy-efficiency, and makes itself available -- its program people available to be of service and advice to the federal government, as it tries to roll out programs throughout the country.  

     MR. SCHULTZ:  If I could also add -- Enbridge Inc. is pursuing, through its emerging energy technologies, programs to develop cleaner-burning and more efficient uses of fuels, including fuel cells and wind-power. 

     MR. NEILES:  I'm glad Mr. Szmurlo raised that, because on September 21st of this month, CEO Pat Daniel will be spending a little less than two days in Ottawa, meeting with officials of the Departments of Natural Resources, Industry and Trade, Environment and another of other agencies, to promote policy for alternative clean-energy technologies, including the fuel cell Mr. Szmurlo refers to.   And he will try to secure some funding for a demonstration project at the VPC location of EGD.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Neiles, you made reference to a change to the fugitive emissions rules which require -- which will not require Enbridge Gas Distribution to purchase emission credits.   Is that, in your view, a saving to the ratepayers? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes, it is.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So, is it also Enbridge Gas Distribution's view that savings on emissions, that may come about due to their operations, or maybe attributed to their operations, are for the benefit of ratepayers? 

     MR. NEILES:  Could you repeat that, please?  

     MR. DINGWALL:  That's a good question.  Could I repeat it?  

     Is it, then, your view that savings related to emission reductions, which are either created or identified, in respect of Enbridge Gas Distribution operations, are also to accrue to the benefit of ratepayers? 

     MR. NEILES:  Any emission directly associated with the operations or infrastructure of Enbridge Gas Distribution, which can be managed in this way, so as to reduce an exposure of some $2.4 million is, indeed, a savings to the ratepayer.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  So your answer would, then, be “yes”? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Luison, with respect to opportunity development, it was certainly covered this morning that both Enbridge Gas Distribution and Enbridge Inc. have departments which are involved in opportunity development.  

     How is it determined whether a particular opportunity is to the benefit of EGD or EI? 

     MR. LUISON:  First of all, let me describe a little bit what the two groups do, and then I’ll answer the question more directly.  

     The opportunity development group, which I lead, as I said this morning, is -- concerns itself with adding burner tips, getting penetration of gas to be higher in our franchise area, and to adding new customers.  And the bulk of their work is developing programs to pursue those activities.   

     That is different from what the business development service is, here, which concerns itself with pursuing large-scale opportunities, such as the electric-generation projects that I referred to this morning.  That we don't have those competencies; we don't have those particular types of people in the utility anymore.  We used to, in years past.  

     Now, a lot has been said -- to get to your question, directly, a lot has been said, and I find, observing these hearings, that there’s, you know -- oftentimes things are presented as if the interests of the shareholder, or the company, is different from the interests of ratepayers, and that it's a zero-sum game.  And that one can only be pursued at the expense of the other.  And you know, I always struggle with that, because it's entirely at odds with the way, you know, I view the world, and the way, you know, I manage my part of the business.  

     You had -- Mr. Player and Mr. Schultz here earlier in the week, and they showed that cost- per-customer graph -- showed it many times.  Well, you know we're at that one end of the scale, and you can stay at that one end of the scale by either reducing costs or by increasing customers.  I'm here to increase customers.  You know, rates are nothing but revenues divided by volumes, at the highest level.  Take the total revenue requirement divided by volumes, that's what the rate is.  

     So you can keep rates low by the -- reducing costs, revenue requirement.  You can keep rates low by increasing the volumes.  And that's, again, what I want to do.  I want to increase revenues.  I want to increase volumes.  And I want to increase the number of customers.  

     The interests of the shareholder, and the interests of the company, and the interests of our customers, are entirely aligned.  We're developing businesses, services for the benefit of our customers.  We're pursuing some of the -- some of the gas-supply and transportation arrangements that I talked about this morning in the interests of customers.  No one ever became successful -- no one ever sustained themselves as a business by ostracizing their customers, or by giving them a service that they didn't find of value.   

     So, you know, what I’m trying to do, and what I’m willing to pay for, in terms of the business development service, and things I'm trying to do in my OD budget, is to pursue sources of growth that will add customers, that will add volumes, that will provide goods and services to my customers.  That, you know, will all pay off in lower rates, and in a healthier company that can provide a service to customers.  

     Will Enbridge Inc. make a profit from that?  Yes, that's what we're in the business of.  We invest in this business to provide services to our customers that they're willing to pay for.  

     They’re -- the interests are entirely aligned.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  Let me try that, again.  

     Is there a dividing line that separates opportunities for EGD from opportunities for EI? 

     MR. LUISON:  There are certain opportunities that are pursued by EI that have nothing to do with EGD.  Is that what you're getting at? 

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes.  

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, there are certainly opportunities -- EI pursues -- 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Off-shore off of Mexico.  Gas-transmission things --  

     MR. LUISON:  [inaudible] -- developments.  They have nothing to do with EGD.  Keep in mind, though, that -- you know, EI wasn't in the gas business until they purchased what was then Consumers Gas.  And a lot of the business activities that they pursue now are to the benefit and aligned with their core holdings, of which EGD is one.   


So some of the things they do is obviously to the benefit of this core heading, EGD.  Some are to the benefit of the oil pipeline, et cetera, et cetera, but not everything EI does obviously is for EGD's benefit.  And that's why we're not paying all of EI's costs.


MR. DINGWALL:  It sounds like, from an operational perspective, the dividing line that you've currently drawn with respect to the interests of EI versus those of EGD seem to be based around where there is some remote connection to natural gas; is that correct?


MR. LUISON:  If it's an activity that will, you know, lead to the long‑term sustainable health of this company, it is in EGD's interests.  And those are the kind of activities that I want EI to pursue on my behalf, because it is it in my company's -- EGD's long‑term interest, and, as I said, those -- EGD and customers, I'm not differentiating between the two.  It is good for all.


MR. DINGWALL:  What I'm having a difficulty kind of understanding, in terms of the dividing line, is, when these activities, which are being charged back to EGD's ratepayers, relate to projects that are not connected to a distribution system, it seems to me that the line is being crossed.


Now, there was some mention this morning of efforts of getting along with native communities and dealing with the federal government in respect of a number of northern matters.  It seems that those efforts are motivated by a corporate desire, though, to get another gas pipeline.  Is that pretty much the case?


MS. DuPONT:  Those ‑‑


MR. LUISON:  Go ahead.


MS. DuPONT:  Just on Enbridge Inc.'s perspective, is that we would like to build another gas pipeline.  We would see that as a way to increase the diversity and the security of supply of natural gas, and so that would have a direct impact on the ratepayers and on EGD, that there would be alternative gas supplies and security of supply.


MR. LUISON:  I will tell you, sir, why I don't think that line has been crossed, because if EI didn't exist ‑‑ again, let's go, you know, to the stand‑alone test.  I have a million-seven customers, and I want that to grow and I expect that to grow.  And I know that traditional sources of supply are starting to shrink.  


If I want my business to be sustained, I have to worry, sitting here today, that I can bring on new supplies and that I can bring on new transmission lines to hook up those supplies to bring them to my market, to serve my market.


Now, EI exists.  I'm in that corporate family.  They're pursuing those activities.  I don't have to.  When we were stand‑alone, we did pursue those activities.  We used to have a senior vice president of gas supply.  We used to have another vice president of gas supply.  We used to have a whole staff of people in gas supply, because we had no one else to rely on and those arrangements we needed to pursue for ourselves.


I can't sit here today and just hope and pray that 2010 comes around and there is going to be gas in our pipes from some place.  So those activities are being pursued.  They're being pursued by EI.  I am paying for those activities being pursued by EI.


And as we've discussed many times, we've arranged our affairs so that that is done centrally.  Benefits flow not just to EGD, but to other -- you know, the rest of the Enbridge ‑‑ some other Enbridge group of companies, and the cost is minimized that way and I get the service that I need for this company.


MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Luison, I believe you're also the purchaser of gas supply, storage and transportation strategy; is that correct?


MR. LUISON:  Correct.


MR. DINGWALL:  Now, I understand that there is an ongoing corporate consideration that, at some point in time, EGD may separate its storage business from the regulated entity; is that correct?


MR. LUISON:  Our storage business operates as part of this regulated utility.  Those kind of discussions around how storage will be operated in this province is something that's before the Board in a separate ‑‑ in separate series of hearings, and we participate in those hearings and will wait to see how the Board decides to move forward with respect to operating and regulating the storage operations in this province.


You know, once I see what the Board comes up with - and we'll certainly be sitting at those tables advocating positions - we will discuss then how, you know, and what we might do with our storage business.  It's not at issue now in this case.


MR. DINGWALL:  Is it a consideration that Enbridge is considering, that they might separate storage?


MR. LUISON:  We will always, like any business, assess what is in the best interests of the business and providing the right service overall to our customers.  So is it something that hypothetically could be on the table?  Of course, but I don't know the rules of the game, so there is no point me speculating what we might or might not do and what the Board might or might not decide to do to regulate that business.  When the time comes, I will consider it then in a way that is not hypothetical.


MR. DINGWALL:  We heard from a panel, on which Mr. Charleson was sitting, earlier in this proceeding that the level of corporate interest in transactional services has some correlation to the amount of shareholder benefit that can be derived from that.


My question to you, panel, is:  Is there some consideration of a reduction in the scope of the services that you'd be acquiring from EI in the event that corporate motivation reduces the scale of interest in transactional services?


MR. LUISON:  Honestly and truly, I was trying to follow your question, but you lost me.  Could you ‑‑


MS. PERSAD:  Madam Chair, I'm wondering if Mr. Dingwall would have a transcript reference where Mr. Charleson says that.


MR. DINGWALL:  I know it was said on a number of occasions.


MR. LUISON:  Can you maybe rephrase the question?


MR. DINGWALL:  Certainly.  Is EGD considering any form of reduction in the amount of corporate services or nature of corporate services, in the event that they do not get the revenue-sharing mechanism that they're seeking in respect of transactional services?


MR. LUISON:  Again, I mean, I don't know what reference to Mr. Charleson's testimony you're referring to, but I'm not going to speculate on what the Board might or might not decide on transactional services.


Our position on that speaks for itself.  When the Board decides how it wants to handle that issue, we will behave accordingly and per the direction of the Board, to the extent that we get direction, and, otherwise, as we think is in the best interests of delivering the services to our customers and running, operating this company.


MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Mr. Shepherd, you wish to cross-examine this panel?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. SHEPHERD:

MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Luison, let me just follow up on a couple of those answers you just gave.


What's the corporate cost allocation amount that the company is asking to be approved, if the TS formula is the old formula instead of the proposed new formula?  Is it the same amount?


MR. LUISON:  There is only one piece of evidence before the Board, and these are the corporate cost allocations we are asking to collect, full stop.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you still want 21.3 even if the TS-sharing mechanism is different?


MR. LUISON:  These are not related.  TS is TS.  These corporate services are what they are.  You're trying to link the two, but, as I said, this is the only piece of evidence I have before this Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  It was a simple yes or no question.


MR. LUISON:  Well, I have answered it twice, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So the answer is, yes, 21.3 is what you're asking for, regardless of what happens with TS?


MR. LUISON:  Yes, sir.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  You said that you can't deal with storage.  It's true, isn't it, that the company has already prepared an application to create a separate affiliate called ‑‑ referred to as Storco, announced it, and then put it on hold because of the Natural Gas Forum; isn't that true?


[Witness panel confers]

     MR. LUISON:  We were considering it in the past.  That consideration was entirely pre-empted by the Natural Gas Forum process that the Board put in place.  So it's off the table.  I'm not aware of any specific application that we actually pursued.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- it's true that the people in Calgary that do this business-development stuff - that's one of the things they would work on - right? - is a store co-affiliate.  If you were going to have one, they’d work on it; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  That was one of the things we did look at, in the past.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Mr. Dingwall asked you who gets what opportunity:  If an opportunity is presented to the group - the EI group of companies - how do you decide who gets what opportunity?  And I understand how you answered the question for Mr. Dingwall, but I want to pursue it in a slightly different way. 

     If you have an opportunity like CWLP, which was a way of -- an opportunity to reduce the cost of customer care, through a partnership with another utility, how do you decide whether EI does that or EGD does that?  And, therefore, who gets the net benefit? 

     MR. LUISON:  We need -- first of all, as I said, we don't have a business-development group within the utility, proper.  So what is the activity we're talking about?  Part of what happens, you know, is driven by what the activity is, and whether it's best done by people in the Enbridge office and whether -- or whether it’s done by people in the EGD office.  

     If it's in EGD's interest, and we have to pursue it, we’ll source it, either internally or with EI, or whoever, to get the function pursued.  

     EI, of course, can pursue whatever it likes on its own account -- you know, it has nothing to do with EGD 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When EGD had the opportunity to do EnVision, there was a decision made that EnVision would be done, internally, at EGD; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  I'm not prepared to talk about EnVision, and how those decisions were made.  I wasn't even in the utility at the time, so --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't even know whether a decision was made to do it in EGD? 

     MR. LUISON:  I don't know how the decision came about.  I wasn't in the utility at the time.  That was, strictly, a utility activity.  I wasn't -- I worked for EI, at the time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, Mr. Neiles, you were in the utility at the time?  

     MR. NEILES:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were actually on the EMT at the time right; right? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  A decision was made to do EnVision in EGD, and not in EI; right? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And why was that? 

     MR. NEILES:  That decision was made before I joined EGD.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so -- actually, then, before you were at EGD, Ms. Haberbusch, weren't you on the EMT at that time? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I was. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then you can help us with this; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I’ll try. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  EnVision was an opportunity to reduce costs by a new initiative; true? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's being done, and it's being done in EGD.  So you made a decision to do it in EGD; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.         

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And why was it EGD, rather than the whole group? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  My understanding -- and again, I wasn't part of the steering committee or the two executives sponsors, but having heard some of the discussion, it was seen as a core-competence within the utility.  It was seen as a core skill that the utility undertakes, and it was intended to enhance the efficiency within the utility.  

     So, from my understanding, that was why it was kept within the utility, and not looked as being an Enbridge Inc. project.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So Mr. Neiles -- Neiles? --

     MR. NEILES:  Neiles. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- Neiles - sorry - and Mr. Luison, you're both on the EMT.  Is customer care a core competence? 

     MR. NEILES:  No, it's not.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  

     One other -- just clean-up thing, before I get to my prepared questions.  

     By the way, can you confirm, Mr. Neiles, that there are currently 18 Enbridge people -- people on the payroll of Enbridge in the room, presently, and two ratepayer representatives?  Can you confirm that that’s the case?  

     MR. NEILES:  Close to your numbers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thanks.  

     Mr. Dingwall asked you some questions about the climate change.  And he talked about the benefits of reducing emissions, and I understand your answer.  

     But I want to take that just one step further, and ask about emission credits.  You're aware that tradable emissions credits are coming; right? 

     MR. NEILES:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so reducing emissions will have value; right?

     MR. NEILES:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Can I take it, from your answer, that, if EGD is able to reduce its emissions, that the value of those emissions credits, if there are any, will accrue to the benefit of the ratepayers; is that correct? 




     MR. NEILES:  Could you repeat the question, please? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If EGD is able to reduce its emissions, and therefore get tradable emissions credits, those emissions credits - the value of them - will accrue to the benefit of the ratepayers -- 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- is that correct? 

     MR. NEILES:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, thank you.  

     Now, Mr. Luison, back to you.  You talked with Mr. De Vellis just before the break, and, I believe also with Mr. Thompson, earlier, about business developments.  I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 46, which is the service schedule for business development.  Do you have it? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  A6, 10, 1, 1, 46.  And just before the break, you said to Mr. De Vellis that the last time that EGD did an acquisition was 2002? 

     MR. LUISON:  That's correct.  I forgot that there was another one.  I believe - same year - I think we bought a small storage entity, and rolled it into our storage facilities, as well. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Those acquisitions were done by Calgary; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  I'm only hesitating because the group that was performing those activities at the time -- they were Toronto people, but the group that was performing those activities at the time went back and forth, between being EI employees and EGD employees, a couple of times.  So I'm -- I think, at the time, they were EI employees, but in Toronto.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, it was Mr. Pleckaitis who actually headed that deal - or those two deals; right?  Or was it Mr. Schultz? 

     MR. LUISON:  Sorry, what do you mean by “headed”? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In terms of leading the deals, doing the final negotiations, making all of the major decisions -- all of that stuff; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  I don't remember who led those deals.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You -- by the way, just before I go on on that.  This schedule that I have here for business development, the one I have is -- says at the top: “Updated 2005-08-19.” That's a new schedule, from last Friday; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  I believe so.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- and that's been amended -- and that's now been -- you've signed that, have you? 

     MR. LUISON:  This one is -- it's unsigned.  The original one was signed by Mr. Player, and this one is unsigned, as it appears in evidence.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but you're the service recipient, so I guess -- the one that was signed in March was signed by Mr. Player, I understand that --  

     MR. LUISON:  Right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- but we've now -- we're now being told by the company that this is the new service schedule; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're the service recipient; right?

     MR. LUISON:  Right.  And the only change that was made was -- there was, inadvertently -- one of the service providers, inadvertently, had been left off of the schedule, so we just updated it.  The costs had been there all along, but the description of the group VP gas strategy, I believe, hadn't been in an earlier version.  It was just put back in.  So it’s the same service, the same cost: the editorial change has been made. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to come to that in a second.  I, actually, think you added labour relations, as well.  I could be wrong, but I'm pretty sure. 

     MR. LUISON:  You may be right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But here’s what I'm asking:  is this now signed?  You're the service recipient:  have you signed it, or not? 

     MR. LUISON:  I don't remember if I have signed it or not.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you're going to -- if you haven't, you're going to; right?

     MR. LUISON:  That's right.  Nothing material rests on it.  I mean, the company has signed on, by Mr. Player, for this service, for this cost.  That's what’s included in the amounts we're trying to recover.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, we actually received a number of changes like this; right?  In board of directors' support, in business development -- there’s a number of them, that were also done on August 19th; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  There may have been.  This is the one I concern myself with.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- well, should I take you to those other pages and show them to you?  Is that best?


MR. LUISON:  I will take your word for it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Does anyone else know about them?  Ms. DuPont, do you know about these changes?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I believe there was a change.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is a change to about six of them, right, I think?


MS. DuPONT:  If you just give us a moment, we will refresh on that.


MR. NEILES:  We will take that, subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And on all of them, what you've added in is a description of the role of the group VP gas strategy and corporate development department; right?  In fact, on many of them that's all you've added in; right?


MR. NEILES:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Deloitte has seen this and approved it?


MR. NEILES:  Deloitte would have been the provider of the updates.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Deloitte would have provided ‑‑ this is your document, isn't it?  Whose document are these service schedules?  Are they prepared by Deloitte or prepared by the company?


MR. NEILES:  They're prepared by Enbridge, with Deloitte’s assistance, based on the time estimates from the time allocation studies conducted by Deloitte.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So Deloitte sometime last week advised you that you had to fix these six schedules; is that correct?


MR. NEILES:  I'm not familiar with how those changes came about, but it appears as though one of the service departments was omitted, or was missing and was replaced, but the figures, according to Mr. Luison, have not changed.  So these are more accurate than they were prior.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. DuPont, these schedules overall are really your responsibility, aren't they?  You're the one generally responsible for inter-corporate services; right?


MS. DuPONT:  I am one of the service providers, but the actual documents are managed through the corporate controller's office and in cooperation with Deloitte.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just trying to get a straight answer, that's all.  We've added the group VP gas strategy to all of these schedules a week ‑‑ while you were in the hearing, and none of them are signed.  I'm just trying to understand what role Deloitte had in that, and the reason I'm asking that - it's no surprise - is Deloitte told you last year that the group VP gas strategy shouldn't be included in anything.


MS. DuPONT:  I'm not aware of Deloitte telling us that at all.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  Sorry.  Their report last year, didn't it say the million-three from ‑‑ for Mr. Letwin should be taken out?


MS. DuPONT:  I'm not aware of that.  I would like to see that documentation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's in...  This is -- I'm looking at Exhibit K9.2, tab 5, page 63.


MR. LUISON:  It has the same reference that was made this morning.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly.  So you are aware that Deloitte said, Take it out; right?


MR. LUISON:  This, as I described this morning, is a description of what was prepared last year under a different methodology and coming up with different cost estimates.  It has no bearing on what we are presenting to the Board for its approval this year.


This year we've come forward.  We said these are the services that are being provided.  Here are the people who provide it.  These are their costs.  Are they reasonable?  Do you need them, and do they provide value for the business development service?  


There is no question of Mr. Letwin's activities in providing and delivering this service.  There is no question of the costs associated with that, and, in my mind, there is no question on the appropriateness of that cost.  That's what we're asking to prepare.  What's in this report -- or for approval, rather.  What's in this report that talks about last year is irrelevant.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yes, but you're forgetting something, aren't you, Mr. Luison, that we have Deloitte’s report for this year; right?  It's in the evidence.


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it actually attaches all of these schedules, the agreement with all of these schedules attached, but the schedules that Deloitte approved don't have Mr. Letwin in there, do they?


MR. LUISON:  The costs ‑‑


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me, it's a yes or no question.  Answer the question first, and then give us the speech, please.


MR. LUISON:  The description of Mr. Letwin's service was omitted in the original version that was presented in evidence.  The cost was not.  They have corrected ‑‑ what's been corrected is the description that went along with the cost, which has been there all along.  It's an editorial change.


MR. NEILES:  Certainly you can put that to panel 3 on Monday.


MR. SHEPHERD:  We will.  Okay, let's just ‑‑ that's a little tangent there.  Let's come back to this acquisitions and mergers and divestitures nonsense.


When is the last time that EGD did a divestiture?  I can't even say it.


MR. LUISON:  If I can go back, you will recall that five, six years ago, Enbridge Gas Distribution was more of a bundled utility.  So, you know, what ended up happening was we unbundled some of the services and some of the activities that were in the utility, and then those services were subsequently sold, ESI being probably the highest-profile example.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only two ‑‑ you're missing one, I think, by the way, but I'll come back to it.  The most recent divestiture that you worked on has been storage; right?


MR. LUISON:  Divestiture?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  You talked about unbundling your storage activities into a separate affiliate; isn't that true?


MR. LUISON:  We investigated that.  We didn't pursue it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But you investigated it; right?


MR. LUISON:  Yes, we did.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you were pay actually paying EI to investigate opportunities; right?


MR. LUISON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So presumably you paid them to investigate that; right?


MR. LUISON:  The way costs were recovered and what we paid EI for activities in the past aren't at issue here, sir.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you won't answer?


MR. LUISON:  You know, I've prepared to talk about what we're asking to recover this year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the other divestiture that you did was customer care; right?  Didn't you transfer ‑‑ take -- spin off your customer care activities to CWLP?


MR. LUISON:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that one was more recent than the water heaters; right?


MR. LUISON:  Than which one, sorry?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Than the water heaters.


MR. LUISON:  It was in the same year.  It was within a couple of months of each other.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, okay.  The last time ‑‑ you have never done a merger, right, not in recent times, anyway; right?


MR. LUISON:  Not in recent times, no.  No, I guess the biggest mergers we have pursued that I am aware of -- I mean, there must have been others, but when -- we come to operate in the Niagara region, because we acquired Provincial Gas at the time, and we came to operate in the Ottawa region because we acquired what was called, I think, Ottawa Gas at the time, and they were merged into what became the bigger Consumers Gas.  Those are the bigger mergers I can think of historically. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So I'm going back to the schedule that we were talking to here on page 46.  And can you tell us what business development activities you're talking about?  You're talking about asset purchases, company mergers, acquisitions, divestitures and partnerships.  We have dealt with three of them.  You haven't done any partnerships recently; right?  Not currently working on any partnerships?


MR. LUISON:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then the only thing that is left is asset purchases.


MR. LUISON:  Excuse me.  Just a sec.


MR. SZMURLO:  I would say our relationship with Sithe would constitute a partnership relationship.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't hear you, sir. 


MR. SZMURLO:  We've had -- with respect to the Ontario business development, we have ‑‑ we have worked on partnerships to pursue the gas‑fired generation.  And I think that's the important dimension of business development that is most relevant to EGD, is the Ontario business development function, which has worked in partnership with other organizations in order to pursue the gas‑fired generation business.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I'm going to talk about that and your partnership with Sithe -- it's Sithe, right, that you have the partnership with?  I'm going to talk about that in a second.  We’ll come back to that.  Because that's not EGD, right? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  That's Enbridge Inc. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, exactly.  I'm just asking, right now, about EGD.  

     The -- so EGD has only two types of asset purchases.  It has its regular operating assets, like mains and like computers and stuff like that.  That's part of a separate area in these corporate-cost allocations -- supply chain assistance, right?  Or whatever it’s called; right?

     MR. LUISON: Mm-hmm. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's not part of this business-development stuff -- buying personal computers? 

     MR. LUISON:  No. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if you buy another building, let's say, to house some more employees, you don't get Calgary involved in that, either; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  No.  That would likely be done by our land department. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So I've just gone through the list, and I don't see anything that EGD does, in this list that you gave us -- anything that EGD does in business development that Calgary has anything to do with.  

     MR. LUISON:  Well, let me clarify that.  I mean, what's on this service schedule -- first of all these are examples, and that's what the schedule says.  These are examples of activities.  

      And secondly, EGD doesn't do any of these things.  This is a service schedule for services provided and pursued by EI on behalf of EGD.  

     Does it necessarily mean that we will add an asset to EGD?  No.   Does it mean it will necessarily mean the divestiture of an asset of EGD?  No.  

     These are activities that are being pursued by EI, from which EGD will derive benefits.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You just said a second ago these are activities pursued by EI on behalf of EGD.  I think you misspoke yourself; right?  Because they're actually on behalf of EI, but they benefit EGD; isn't that correct? 

     MR. LUISON:  They're done on behalf of -- 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Entire corporation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I couldn't hear you, sir.

     MR. SZMURLO:  They're done on behalf of the entire corporation.  They benefit EGD, and they benefit other corporate elements, as well.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Sorry, I couldn't hear that. 

     MR. SZMURLO:  They benefit EGD, and they benefit other corporate elements, as well.  

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you. 

     MR. LUISON:  And the ones that I’m paying for are the ones that I believe to be of benefit to EGD.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this was all very confusing to me.  Of course, as you've seen, that's a pattern here.  And so I went to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 118, seeking solace in your answers to the interrogatory.  If you could turn that up, it’s Exhibit I, tab 1, schedule 118.  

     MR. LUISON:  I have it, sir. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  This talks -- this gives examples of the past business-development activities that you've -- this covers -- this $1.2 million covers these sorts of things; right? 

     So ECS -- oh, sorry.  Go ahead. 

     MR. LUISON:  No, we're okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  ECS and CWLP is the first one.  So, if I understand correctly, what you're saying in this answer is, the ratepayers should pay EI to spin-off some of the EGD activities and make a big profit from it.  Is that what you're saying? 

     MR. LUISON:  I am not going to pay for a service unless it is -- I perceive it to be of benefit to EGD.  And I'm not looking backwards, I’m looking forwards.  These examples -- there are others that I already cited, such as, you know, the acquisition of provincial and Ottawa gas, and the acquisition of 50 percent of the Tecumseh gas-storage facilities from Imperial Oil, that are part of the asset base of EGD.  These are historical examples. 

     I am asking to recover the costs associated with the services provided by EI that I perceive to be of benefit to EGD.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Lawyers use a term called “ejusdem generis”.  What it means is “of the same type” -- “in the same category”, if you like.  

     And, if I understand your interrogatory answer, what you're saying, in effect, is, We can't tell you what we’re going to be working on in 2006, and what EI is going to be working on in 2006 for this 1.2 million, but we can give you examples of what they've done in the past, that are similar; is that right? 

     MR. LUISON:  No, that’s not right.  I was trying to be responsive to the interrogatory, in giving historical examples, which, I believe, is what was asked.  

     Going forward, I know that Enbridge Inc. is pursuing electric-generation opportunities.  I know that they are pursuing L&G facilities in Quebec.  I know that they are pursuing transmission lines that will bring gas in from Alaska and from the Rockies.  These are the things that they are pursuing, currently.  So, while they haven't been doing a recent acquisition or divestiture on behalf of EGD, they have been pursuing green-field activities that, hopefully, will materialize and will, unquestionably, provide benefits to EGD.  And those are the things that I am paying for, going forward.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- one of the examples, here, is the pursuit of municipal electric utilities.  That was three or four years ago; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  That was circa-2000 -- 1999 to 2001.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And that wouldn't be for the direct benefit of EGD; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  It wouldn't be the direct benefit of EGD.  Hopefully, that would create -- if it were pursued now, would create the kind of opportunity where, hopefully, we could share the cost of certain services that would be common to electric and gas utilities residing in the same franchise area.  So --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Like customer care? 

     MR. LUISON:  Potentially.  I mean, joint trenching.  I mean any sort of thing -- any sort of activity that would be -- 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Service trucks. 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, anything that would be common to two utilities in the same geographic area.  But it's moot, because we’re not -- what I’m aware, of what EI’s doing, is -- they’re not those types of activities, as we speak. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If EI owned a municipal utility -- if you had got any, they wouldn't be in EGD; right?  They’d be in some other EI company; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then EI would own a competitor to EGD; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  In certain -- in the provision of energy for certain uses, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But the ratepayers of EGD should pay for that; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  No one is asking the ratepayers of EGD to pay for that.  I mean -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- 

     MR. LUISON:  -- it's hypothetical.  It's not what’s here. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then, if EI does things like pursue municipal utilities in 2006, you won't pay any part of that cost; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  When I agreed to pay this amount for 2006, in doing my due diligence -- I'm not aware of them pursuing any of those activities.  And I'm not being asked to pay for any of those costs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are being asked to pay for a percentage of, for example, their work in wind-power in Alberta; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're paying some individual -- indivisible costs of their budgets?  

     MR. LUISON:  I am paying -- there is only one group that does these sorts of activities.  It’s EI.  They do those sort of things.  But, again, I have to satisfy that what I am paying for is a value to me, not to the other parts of the Enbridge organization.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the only thing that you’ve -- the only example you've given of stuff that directly benefits -- you've given two examples of stuff that benefits -- directly benefit EGD.  One is pipelines to bring gas to Ontario; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  I've talked about pipelines to bring gas to Ontario.  I have talked about L&G in Quebec, to bring new source of supply to Ontario.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talked about gas-fired generation. 

     MR. LUISON:  And I talked about the gas-fired generation, to bring new loads to our company.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so, with respect to, for example, a pipeline from North-West Territories, say, or Alaska, whatever, what the EGD ratepayers are paying for is something that EI would do, anyway; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  As I said, I guess, this morning -- is that EI wasn't in the gas business until they bought EGD.  And they are pursuing activities, now, that are in the interests of their core holdings, of which EGD is one.  

     So, you know -- the reasons -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MR. LUISON:  -- one of the reasons they're doing those things is because of EGD, and for our benefit.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I'm having some difficulty getting Mr. Luison to give me straight answers to questions.  I'm going to ask that question again, and I'm really having a hard time, here.  I'm sorry.  And I wonder if he could be directed to give me a straight answer to a simple question.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Luison, I'm sharing some of Mr. Shepherd's frustration.  Can you listen carefully to his question, and answer it, please.  

     MR. LUISON:  Certainly.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The -- so the question is, EI would pursue pipelines to Ontario, in any case, regardless of whether it benefits EGD; right?  It's part of your business.  

     MR. LUISON:  It's part of our business -- it's part of EI's business, as is EGD.  I don't know what they would do if EGD didn't exist, if they’d be in the pipeline business -- gas-pipeline business, at all.  

     Again, you're asking me a hypothetical question.  They are pursuing that pipeline.  One of the reasons they're pursuing it is because it benefits the core -- one of the core -- other businesses that it owns, which is EGD.  

     I don't know what they’d do -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mm-hmm.   

     MR. LUISON:  -- if EGD didn't exist.    


MR. SZMURLO:  If I could amplify on that on behalf of EI, in terms of what our strategies are, our strategies try to build on and complement existing core businesses.  So our new businesses, newer businesses, which include gas transmission businesses, were developed, in part, to leverage and build on the existing competencies and the load that EGD provided as a potential customer of those gas pipelines.


So our decision to get involved in things like Alliance and Vector pipelines were directly influenced by our ownership and involvement with EGD.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you saying that these things wouldn't happen, that there wouldn't ‑‑ the supply wouldn't be there if you weren't doing it, if EI wasn't doing it; that somebody else wouldn't be building pipelines if you weren't?


MR. LUISON:  This is too important to EGD for me to sit back and speculate whether or not somebody else will do it.  This is stuff that I require and if I was stand‑alone, I would be pursuing in the best interests of this company.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, EI is also in partnership with Sithe, at least that I know of - and I think there's others, as well - with respect to potential gas‑fired electric generation in Ontario; right?


MR. SZMURLO:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And EI is doing that because they think it is profitable; right?


MR. SZMURLO:  We hope it will be.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And it's not just in Ontario that you're looking at gas‑fired generation, is it?


MR. SZMURLO:  It's the main point of our emphasis, because that's where it levers best with our existing core competencies.  That's where we have a gas distribution facility.  So that's the thrust of our emphasis on the gas‑fired generation, is here in Ontario.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not the only place you're looking at?


MR. SZMURLO:  It is the principal place that we're looking at, but not the only place.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Not the only place, thank you.


And, again, same question.  Are you telling the Board that if EI was not doing that, that somehow less gas‑fired generation would get built in Ontario?  I'm sort of a free market guy, so I assume that if you're not doing it and it is profitable, somebody else will.  Isn't that true?


MR. SZMURLO:  Well, we like to think that our participation creates a competitive environment that induces the government to accept gas‑fired generation in the Greater Toronto Area.  Up to now, they haven't yet.


For instance, there was very little acceptance of gas‑fired generation within the Greater Toronto Area in the latest Clean Energy Supply RFP.  We're hopeful that our efforts, our continued efforts, to present a viable alternative will result in the establishment of more gas‑fired generation in greater Ontario to the benefit of both Enbridge Inc. and EGD.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yesterday we talked to the witnesses.  I think it was Mr. Player who agreed that in this list of corporate services that we have, the whole list, we have two sort of categories.  We have things that EI does specifically for EGD.


So, you know, there is a lawyer in Calgary that has a particular expertise, and, Mr. Neiles, one of your people in Toronto needs an answer to a question in their area of expertise, calls him up and he spends two or three hours, say, giving a good answer to the problem; right?


MR. NEILES:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's very specific service.  It's something that you would have to buy somewhere else if you didn't get it?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  And then you have the second category of services - and I'm asking you, Mr. Luison, to confirm that business development is in that category - the second category of service, which is the bulk of these services, which is things that EI does for EI, to make money for EI, that also benefit EGD because it's part of the team and because it is part of the corporate structure.  That's what business development is; right?


MR. LUISON:  As I've said and Mr. Szmurlo said, yes, it does ‑‑ activities that is to the benefit of all of EI.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You talked with Mr. De Vellis earlier about community or -- what's it called, customer, industry and community relations?  Do you recall that?


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're paying ‑‑ you're paying EI $670,640 next year for that; right?


MR. LUISON:  I believe that is the number, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Actually, that's not what you're paying for.  You're paying some other amount under CAM, but what you're asking the ratepayers to pay is that much; right?


MR. LUISON:  Yes, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know what you're actually paying for it?


MR. LUISON:  CAM isn't service based.


MR. NEILES:  No.  CAM is not serviced based, so there isn't an equivalent.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Luison, your OD staff spend quite a lot of time on community relations, don't they?


MR. LUISON:  OD staff?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.


MR. LUISON:  The OD staff is concerned with developing programs to add load and customers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so aren't they out there --


MR. LUISON:  That is what OD is.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Aren't they out there talking to people in industry, talking to potential customers, maintaining ‑‑ developing and maintaining relationships?  That's what they do for a living; right?


MR. LUISON:  That would be part of their activities, certainly.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, similarly, Mr. Pleckaitis's regional operations people, they're actually the main people who look after community, customer and industry relations, aren't they?  Again, they're out there all the time doing it; right?


MR. LUISON:  There are definitely people in the regions and sales functions who do some of that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's a significant activity for them, isn't it?


MR. LUISON:  Yes, it's part of their day-to-day job.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And some of this also, Mr. Neiles, you do that, too; right?  Your people do that?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And of course all of the people on the EMT, and Mr. Schultz, you're always doing that too; right?  That's a key part of your job, is to be out there with your customers, with industry groups, with the community, understanding your customers; right?


MR. NEILES:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Having relationships with them; right?  Yes?


MR. NEILES:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what this $670,000 is is that the other people who are doing this are Mr. Daniel and Mr. Letwin, and, who else?  Basically them; right?


MR. NEILES:  Ms. DuPont.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Ms. DuPont.


MR. NEILES:  And the public and government affairs department of Enbridge Inc.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have a public affairs department in EGD, so presumably public and government affairs in EI isn't doing a whole lot in Ontario?


MR. NEILES:  As I outlined this morning, one of the services provided by the customer, industry and community relations service is the underpinnings, the infrastructure measurement and reporting mechanisms for environment health and safety reporting, employee development reporting, and community relations reporting, all under the banner of corporate social responsibility.


MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not paying 670,000 for your CSR policy, are you?


MR. NEILES:  No.  That is one element.  We also referred to the involvement of the CEO and the group vice president of gas strategy and corporate development in the Interstate Natural Gas Association of America, the American Gas Association, Canadian Gas Association and other industries, as well as, given their proximity to the gas supply industry, both suppliers to EGD and gas suppliers in general, that they leverage networks and intelligence and information that EGD otherwise would not have. 


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just give me one second here.  So I wonder if you could turn to Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19, and particularly page 5 of that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What was that citation, Mr. Shepherd?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Exhibit I, tab 18, schedule 19, School Energy Interrogatory No. 19, at page 5.


MR. LUISON:  You said page 5?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Do you have that?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, we do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this actually breaks down what you're paying for customer, industry and community relations, and it looks to me ‑ and correct me if I'm wrong ‑ like the cost of the three senior executives is about $283,000 plus support costs.  That's how much you're paying for them to drop by in Ontario every once in a while and give a speech; right?


MR. NEILES:  No.  As I mentioned, the ‑‑ I mentioned three associations by way of example.  I mentioned the gas supply, the upstream industry based in Calgary and other points on the continent, and the suppliers to EGD as well as suppliers in general -- very few of whom are in Ontario, and with whom these senior executives from Calgary interact on a frequent basis, outside of Ontario.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Very few of your suppliers to EGD are in Ontario? 

     MR. NEILES:  Gas supply. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Gas suppliers?  Oh, okay.  So this is, really, about the supply of gas to Ontario.  

     MR. NEILES:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're trying to include this in distribution rates; right?  Isn't that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.  And, I think, as Ms. DuPont and Mr. Luison have outlined previously, that the efforts of EI are to link supply -- diversity of supply between other points and Ontario, with a view to assuring reliability and security of supply, and, hopefully, addressing the price-volatility that we are experiencing, and are forecasted to experience.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so part of this is for price-volatility. 

     MR. NEILES:  Absolutely.  It’s in our interest, the utility's interest and the ratepayers' interest, to find ways to manage price-volatility for our customers.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, then, this $206,000, plus support costs -- that must be in your risk-management costs; is that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  No, it's not.  No.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Luison, you're also responsible for the emerging-technology service; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you also have your own EGD department dealing with this; right?  Mr. Bacon's group?   

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, sir. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, am I right in understanding -- what this report -- what this agreement says, is that the $120,000 you pay to EI for this service gets you some reports on emerging technologies; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  It gets me some reports.  It gets me assistance.  Mr. Szmurlo can describe some of the things that EI does in this area.  

     MR. SZMURLO:  A specific example would be our fuel-cells effort.  EI led the way in our relationships and partnerships with local thermal-electric and, now, fuel-cell energy, to help develop the fuel-cell products that would more efficiently utilize natural gas.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the reason is -- the reason for doing that is because you're an investor in that activity -- EI is an investor in that technology? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  We're an investor in that technology, and we're also interested in developing technologies and products that will increase the gas supply for EGD.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So these more-efficient fuel cells might be used for distributed generation and things like that. 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Yes, that is correct.       

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you, sort of, get a two-pronged benefit:  you invest in a technology you think is going to make you lots of money; but you also -- if it does make you lots of money, at the same time, you are able to supply it to Ontario and increase the through-put for EGD; right? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  That's correct.  It benefits both EGD and it benefits Enbridge Inc. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Excellent.  

     Mr. Luison, just before lunch, you spoke with Mr. De Vellis about -- I was actually listening on the Internet, that's how I have all these.  You spoke with Mr. De Vellis about the appropriateness of reviewing the costs of EI.  Do you recall that? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, I do.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And, in fact, you made a point, as I understood it, that, if you were purchasing from an

arms-length provider, you wouldn't be able to look at their costs; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you focused on the three-pronged test, which doesn't include looking at costs; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay. But yesterday we had the testimony of Mr. Player, that the test that EGD employed, and the test that this Board should employ, for determining what the right amount is to pay for these services, is the lower of cost and fair market value.  You were here:  you heard that; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But when you talked to Mr. De Vellis, you said cost isn't important, didn't you?  Not the cost to EI.  That's not important; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  The cost that I am asking to recover is what's important.  And the Board has adjudicated many times in the past that, you know, we would not be able to, if we're paying fully, pay more than market. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but they also say you can't pay more than cost; right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Correct.   

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But the costs to EI, to supply these services was not part of the consideration -- of EGD's consideration as to what the appropriate amount was to pay; right?  You were only concerned with market. 

     MR. LUISON:  I was only concerned with what I was being asked to pay for the service I was asking to have delivered.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I understood you to tell Mr. De Vellis that the cost to EI is irrelevant.  Is that correct?  Or just irrelevant to you, because of your role? 

     MR. LUISON:  No.  I am concerning myself with the service being provided, the reasonableness of the cost of that service, and whether or not the benefits of that service exceed the costs. 

     Cost is obviously something I am keenly interested in.  And one of the things that I need to do, to satisfy myself that the cost is reasonable, is to compare it with what the alternatives would be.  

     So what I said this morning was, you know, an alternative could be -- some of these services -- to procure some of them from external sources.  And, if I were to do that (a), I think they would be much more expensive, and (b), you know -- I don't know how the provider bills up his costs, and how he shares them with anybody else he’s providing that service to.  I only know, you know, what I can agree to, which is the cost of the service being provided to me.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So not your responsibility to consider what the costs are of the service provider? 

     MR. LUISON:  I can't begin to, and I'm not in a position to assess all of Enbridge's costs, from all of the cost-centres that touch upon delivering these services to me.  

     So, I look at the costs that I'm getting, and look at the benefits I’m getting, and have to decide whether or not they're appropriate for me to be paying for them, within EGD, and recovering those costs in our rates.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Just before I go on to the next area, let me just -- I forgot something in a previous area.  

     This relates to the community-relations stuff, the - especially, the industry relations.  The EI group of companies is involved in the Canadian Gas Association; right? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's correct.       

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And who’s the representative on the board of directors of the CGA? 

     MR. NEILES:  There are two representatives:  Mr. Schultz represents the utility, and Mr. Letwin represents gas development.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  When Mr. Schultz is on the Canadian Gas Association, he's not assisting the rest of the EI group.  He's only looking after EGD? 

     MR. NEILES:  That's right. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So why is he in a different position than all the other executives?  Everybody else helps everybody else, but Mr. Schultz doesn't? 

     MR. NEILES:  I'm sure he's consulted, from time to time, as a member of the leadership team, for his perspective.  But in respect of the Canadian Gas Association, the -- Mr. Letwin, sitting there, and returning to Calgary from his meetings, represents the organization and can interface with his other colleagues in that fashion.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, because we have a percentage of Mr. Letwin’s costs in the -- being charged to EGD, I assume that some percentage of Mr. Schultz's costs are being charged to EI; is that right? 

     MR. NEILES:  I do not believe so.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  

     Ms. Haberbusch, I haven't forgotten you.  You’re responsible for total compensation and benefits? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you spend just under a $1 million

-- or, you're planning to spend just under $1 million next year on that.  I found that at A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 120.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  I believe that’s about $940,000.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Now, this service -- it's just advice, policies and assistance; right?  It doesn't include, actually, paying any compensation or benefits, does it? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No, it’s not just what you mentioned.  It doesn't, actually, involve the payroll function, but it certainly does administer some of those pay programs, as well as design and develop.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  But I guess my point is that it doesn't include any of the actual compensation or the actual benefits; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  You mean the dollars -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- that are paid to people, in terms of base pay, et cetera? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  Those come out of the utility's budget. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And it doesn't include any bonuses, it doesn't include any benefit costs, any of that stuff; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  Those would be within the utility, for the utility employees. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, you have a budget for that; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's correct.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes, okay.  And that's in your budget. 

     MR. HABERBUSCH:  That’s right.  In the --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In the O&M --

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  In the HR O&M budget.    


MR. SHEPHERD:  You also have people at EGD that deal with recruitment and your benefit plan, et cetera, internally, right, at EGD?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I have people that deal with recruitment below the executive level, and I have people that do benefit and pension administration.  So they wouldn't contract with any of the third-party vendors, but they would manage the interface between employee claims and the carrier.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the things you do in compensation and benefits at EGD, they have to be approved at the highest level by the EMT and by Mr. Schultz; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  In terms of the utilization of the pay programs, yes, they would review the outputs.


MR. SHEPHERD:  If you have to advertise for a new person, who does that, Calgary or Toronto?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would depend which position you're talking about.  If we were hiring externally within EGD, then we would make that recruitment and we would advertise for that position.


If it was a senior level position, it would likely be handled more through succession management.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Which would be an internal decision made by Mr. Daniel, Mr. Schultz, Ms. DuPont and the rest of the corporate leadership team.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MS. HABERBUSCH:  And presumably with board of director concurrence.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So appointment of a new vice president -- like, Mr. Luison just was appointed vice president of OD.  That wasn't done by EGD.  That was done by EI; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That would have been in consultation certainly with Mr. Schultz involved, but, yes, that would have been a decision made within the corporate leadership team.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And Mr. Hoey just came as director of regulatory, and I don't want any details about his situation.  That's not fair, but that's the sort of thing -- that level is, what, an EI level, or is that an EGD level?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Primarily director level ‑‑ director level is sort of a bit of a crossover point.  Some of those positions, the recruitment might be hired within the utility, but certainly there would be involvement, as that is an executive level position with Enbridge Inc.


MR. NEILES:  In respect of that particular case, that recruitment and selection was entirely handled at EGD.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would really depend on which director position it was at the time.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. DuPONT:  The process, just to supplement Ms. Haberbusch's remarks, Madam Chair, is that any position that is at the vice president level is considered an officer, and so those are approved by the boards.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, okay.  But I guess my question is:  Who actually manages the process, if you like?


I took it that what Ms. Haberbusch was saying was that for vice presidents and above, that's done in Calgary, essentially.


MS. DuPONT:  I think that there would be very significant consultation between the business unit and Calgary before a decision is made, and, you know, I think you can get into semantics here, Madam Chair, but the reality of the situation is that if Mr. Schultz wants to appoint someone as a vice president, he would more likely to be informing Calgary than seeking approval.  That's the reality of the situation, Madam Chair.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  Ms. Haberbusch, you're also the service recipient -- the purchaser of $214,000, and change, for labour relations and unionized labour relations.  You described them this morning, right, what the difference is?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you have internal resources to do those things as well; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I have some generalist positions who work with the supervisors and managers that would provide day‑to‑day labour relations support at the operational level, which would be a much more junior form of support than the support offered through Calgary at the director level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Who negotiates your labour contracts?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  EGD negotiates their labour contracts, but the director of labour relations for Enbridge Inc. provides functional and technical support throughout that process, and he, in fact, would draft the collective agreements that emerge from those discussions.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Your lead negotiator would be a person at EGD; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So what they're providing you is a support function?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And, similarly, your grievance procedures are done here; right?  They're not done in Calgary?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  They're done locally.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's your own people on your payroll that are doing that; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would depend on the nature of the grievance.  Sometimes we do call upon the director of labour relations from Enbridge Inc. to provide some support in that process, depending on the nature of the grievance, and, if we felt it had the eventual outcome of moving to an arbitration situation, then we would have him involved.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  You're also responsible for stock-based compensation and benefits?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, the bill for 2006, you're projecting at 1,873,200; is that right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I believe that is the number.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The stock in question is shares of EI, your parent company.  It's not stock in EGD, of course; right?  


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this is an incentive to EGD employees to improve the position of EI; right?  


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's -- stock‑based compensation is a recognition that the individual is going to provide long‑term value to Enbridge and Enbridge Gas Distribution.  So it's not awarded based on business results year over year, as is incentive pay.  It is a recognition that that individual has succession potential within the organization, which could be within EGD or within Enbridge as a whole, as well as their criticality for retention.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is it awarded, in part, on the basis of the scorecard?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  It's based ‑- there's an assessment of overall performance of the individual.  The scorecards are used ‑‑ are more tied into the incentive compensation piece.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  That's success sharing; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's what it used to be called.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It has a new name?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  We refer to it now within the utility as incentive compensation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Incentive compensation, okay.  But back to the stock-based compensation for a second.  So if I understand how you calculate this, the number 1,873,200 is based on the stock price, what, in 2004; is that correct?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not an expert on the calculation methodology, which I believe the third panel will touch on.  I have a general understanding of how that works.  I wouldn't want to speak too specifically about the calculation methodology without that panel being available.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, don't your staff ask you how this works?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  They have an understanding of the program and the factors that are considered when awarding the stock options.  The valuation, in terms of accounting, they don't usually ask me, no.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, do they have a taxable benefit when this happens?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. LATTONI:  Perhaps I can give you an explanation.  They're actually -- from an employee's point of view, the only value that a stock option has is once it's vested and it's in the money and they have exercised it.  And for most employees, that's the only calculation they ever make, and they anticipate whatever they anticipate and realize whatever they realize.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Don't you actually have a web site that they can go to that shows them what their stock option benefits are?


MR. LATTONI:  We have -- they can go to their Solium account and see what the status of their stock options is at any point in time.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  What's a Solium account?


MR. LATTONI:  Solium is an outside vendor that provides administrative services for our stock options and our performance share units.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I see.  So you don't actually administer the stock option plan internally?


MR. LATTONI:  We administer half of it internally, and Solium manages the other half, the administrative half.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. LATTONI:  Just to continue, if I may?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.


MR. LATTONI:  So the second part of the equation is the accounting charge that's made for stock options, which is, as it turns out, to be exactly the same as the formula we use, or virtually the same as the formula we use for granting stock options.


So as we said earlier, one of the key fundamentals of long‑term incentives, as part of the three-legged stool, is competitiveness, individual performance and incentive to generate overall success in the organization and to share in that success. 


So the idea being, when we determine the competitive level - and let's assume that the competitive level is $100, for sake of argument - we have to deliver to make sure that our total compensation is competitive.  If $10.00 of that is deemed to be appropriately delivered in terms of long‑term incentives, we will use a formula to determine how many stock options it takes to deliver $10.00 in value.  That's the same as the CICA one, gross -- I mean, it is pretty well the same.  It varies in some very subtle ways.  


Then the third one is this calculation methodology that Deloitte has developed for the rate case process.  And the reason we delivered this cash-equivalent methodology for the rate base is that rather than speculate, which is what forecasting models do, speculate on the long‑term value of a stock option, we can actually go pack over points in time and say, as stock options vest year by year over four years, we can determine what their value is at that point in time.


So it's not a realized value, but it is an available value.
     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's paper value. 

     MR. LATTONI:  It’s a paper value, so that's the value that we attribute.  And we use it because it can because it can be determined with certainty, and you can go back and verify it very easily. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And if I understand how it works, if you have an employee who has a stock option granted in, say, 2002, and it vests in 2004, you take the difference between the grant price - the price they're allowed to buy the stock at - and the difference between the market price at the time it vests --

     MR. LATTONI:  Right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- that difference is the benefit. 

     MR. LATTONI:  That's correct. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because, if they actually exercise at the time they're allowed to, when it vests, that's how much money they’d get? 

     MR. LATTONI:  That's exactly correct. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Perfect.  So, if you had options granted in 2002 -- let's say an employee had 10,000 options granted in 2002, at what would now be, after the split – what, about $20 a share?  2002, about 40?  So, maybe, 20?  And the current value is $35 a share, then the benefit is $15 dollars a share, or $150,000 for that employee; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct. The vesting happens over four years, 25 percent each year, so your numbers are a little different but, yes, you're right --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m assuming -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:   $15 worth of value, at that point in time.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I’m assuming they got 40, and 10 vested in 2004.  So in that case -- now, nobody actually spends any money; right?  Nobody actually spent that $150,000.  But for accounting purposes, you have to treat it as compensation you've given the employee.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  As an expense, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Right.  Now, it's not the actual expense that you booked for EI, is it? 

     MR. LATTONI:  No.  The formula -- the Deloitte formula and actual expense are different.  EI follows the CICA rules, as it should -- and as it must.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.   And the CICA rules are a lower amount or a higher amount? 

     MR. LATTONI:  It depends.  We'll never know until all of the options are expensed -- are exercised, and we go back and look at it, historically.  It would take quite a long exercise to do that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  If EGD earns more than its allowed rate of return, typically, that would mean the stock price goes up; right?  The EI stock price goes up.  The more EGD earns, the better for the stock price on EI; right? 

     MR. LATTONI:  Well, all things remaining equal, you would think so.  But it doesn't always work that way. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It's pretty unpredictable, I understand:  but, generally, that's the trend; right? 

     MR. LATTONI:  We would hope so. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, in fact, in the stub-period last year, when EGD had 15 months of earnings, that bumped the EI stock, didn't it? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't think we can count on that.  I don't think so, that doesn't sound right to me, but I think I would want one of our accountants --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well --

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- to be able to answer that. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- it's a statistical -- it's a fact, out there.  I'm not asking --

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don’t believe it was --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- you to speculate. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- I believe it was factored out of the valuations by investors. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, a number of you have EI stock options; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And didn't the value of your options go up, dramatically, last year?  Yes or no. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don’t believe it was attributable to that.  I believe, across the enterprise, there was excellent performance, all the way around.  And I believe that created value for shareholders, and analysts recognized that.  But I don't believe that the 15-month change in accounting year-end had a change to the stock price associated with that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When was it you did the stock split? 

     MR. LATTONI:  May.  

     MS. DuPONT:  May the -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Of this year? 

     MS. DuPONT:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you do a stock split when the stock is going up, and it's starting to get to what you think is not the most appropriate range.  And so you split it, so the price is more accessible to investors; right? 

     MS. DuPONT:  It’s split so that it is more appealing to the retail market, generally. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Exactly, exactly.  And so you split when the price goes up; right?  Which is, in fact, what happened in the last couple of years:  the price went up.  

     MS. DuPONT:  That's correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And under the system that you're talking about here, if the price of the stock goes up, what that means is that EGD has to pay -- EGD doesn't have to pay for that increase in stock price; right?  Because that's CAM, and CAM doesn't do that the same way.  It does it a different way; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure what you're referring to -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- “EGD paying for stock appreciation?” 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, this is a bill that EI is sending to EGD; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Stock-based compensation? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.  It's an expense that EGD incurs by having stock options issued to their employees, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Now the actual expense that you incur is under CAM; right?  It's not under RCAM? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm sorry, I don't know the answer to that.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Luison and Mr. Neiles -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would assume it would be part of a CAM allocation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you don't know the actual expense that EGD has for this? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  My -- this is the -- this is a direct expense.  I don't believe it is any different under CAM or RCAM.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So it's calculated the same way. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's calculated the same way, and it's a direct expense incurred by EGD.  So I'm afraid -- if there is a difference, I'm not aware of it.  But you’d have to explore that --

     MR. NEILES:  This also -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- with the accountants. 

     MR. NEILES:  This, also, would be an appropriate question for panel 3.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well -- but, I guess, it sounds like the service recipient doesn't know what the real cost is.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm pretty sure that’s the real cost. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  The real cost is 1,873,000:  that's the number under CAM. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm sorry, I don't know what the CAM number is.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Right.  But whatever the amount is that you pay, if EI has a stock increase, EGD has to pay for it through this corporate allocation, and you collect it from the ratepayers; right?  That's how the system works, as you propose.  

     MR. LATTONI:  The cash-equivalent method is such that, if the stock price goes above the issue price, then that creates an expense that’s flowed back through RCAM, and we seek to recover that from the Ontario ratepayers.  That's correct. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.        

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.   So, if I understand correctly, Ms. Haberbusch, you said, a few minutes ago, that the scorecard is the basis for incentive compensation.  And we already saw, yesterday, that -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's one of the metrics. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the metrics. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And we saw, the other day, that 60 percent of those measures are driven by benefits to the shareholders; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I would have to look at the scorecard to add up the different metrics.  But there are some financial metrics.  There are customer metrics, and there are employee-based metrics. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And, in addition, the compensation by way of stock-based compensation is also -- it’s incentive-based; right?  It gives people an incentive to drive up the price of EI stock; right?  Anything you can do to drive up the EI stock benefits you, personally; right, if you have stock options?  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think the intention of long-term incentive programs is to enhance retention of critical employees, and, certainly, create a sense of vested interest on the part of the employee, ensuring that the operation continues successfully.  And that they're looking at the long-term health of the organization, in terms of results. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  It was actually a simpler question.  They -- you've been sitting too close to Mr. Luison, for too long.  

     The simpler question is this.  If an employee who has stock options at EGD -- it is in their personal interests to do things to drive up the price of EI stock.  Yes or no? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Indirectly. 

     MS. DuPONT:  Mr. Shepherd, I’d like to respond to that, because the way in which you phrased that question, I think, is rather disturbing.  

     The fact of the matter is that we do provide our senior staff with stock options.  We do see those as viable long-term incentives, and we do hope that those stock options serve to retain the skills that we need at the senior levels.  

     But for you to imply that the effect is for individuals to focus on driving the stock price up, I think, is somewhat misleading.  We've got a very strong sustainability ethic in Enbridge.  We expect to be around for a long time.  And there, certainly, is not any short-term view of driving that stock up, for the purposes of exercising stock options 

     I’d also take issue with your alignment of the increase in the share price with the change in the EGD year-end.  If you were watching the press - and I’m sure you keep an eye on Enbridge - you would have seen that, in that same period, we purchased very significant assets, close to $1 billion of assets in the Gulf of Mexico.  We announced aggressive plans to try to bring Alaska gas down through Canada.  We, also, announced an aggressive building program to take oil sands -- crude oil across the west coast.  Those factors come together very nicely to investors and help them see that there is a real future with the organization.


So I would like to have it on the record that there were more ‑‑ there was more than one event occurring at the time that the decision was reached to change the year end.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Just back to your first point for a second.  If I understand what you're saying correctly, while it may be true that if the senior executives of EGD, who hold stock options, were Machiavellian, then they might act in the interests of increasing the stock price.  But they have better values than that.  You've got better people than that.  They're not like that, is that what you're saying?  I'm not disagreeing with you.


MS. DuPONT:  I would absolutely say that.  And I would say, furthermore, that our executive are in for the long haul, and so I think we've got enough experience in the marketplace to know what short-term stock option-oriented thinking leads to in business today.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Shepherd, it's ten minutes to three.  Is there somewhere in your examination that we can pause for a break?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Actually, this would not be a bad time.  And I can tell you that, while this has been more of a struggle than I intended, I am about 20 to 30 minutes away from finishing.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Why don't we break now, then, until five minutes past 3:00?


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:50 p.m.


‑‑‑ On resuming at 3:15 p.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chairman.  I am close to the end.


We were talking about stock-based incentives and also, I guess, about your incentive compensation plan, Ms. Haberbusch.


No one at EGD gets incentives for keeping rates charged to ratepayers as low as possible, do they? 


 MS. HABERBUSCH:  There's not a direct measure for that, but certainly the score card itself is intended to ensure that the utility is operating in as effective and efficient a manner, so that would be certainly of value and ‑‑ for the ratepayer.  And there are customer measures, as well, on those scorecards that also would be a direct benefit to the ratepayer.


MR. SHEPHERD:  At the end of the day the ratepayer ‑‑ excuse me.  At the end of the day, the ratepayers are paying for all of the incentives, anyway; aren't they?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  They're paying for the appropriate compensation to attract and retain executives that are doing an excellent job, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Excuse me a second.


Since the ratepayers are paying for all of the incentives, anyway, would the company ‑‑ I see we have a couple of vice presidents here, some EI people, the head of HR.  Would the company be agreeable to adding a new incentive for the company executives, which the ratepayers would also pay for, that pays the executives a bonus if next year they get a rate increase from this Board for 2007 that's, let's say, 70 percent of inflation?


MR. LATTONI:  Well, we're always looking at interesting performance metrics and we are in the current process right now of a total rewards review, and I will bring that to the team as a suggestion.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a way better answer than I expected.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, I think what you have to look at is, in order to manage those costs, what would be the level of service that could be provided?  And I think we're here in this rate hearing to say that the cost pressures that EGD is facing, in order to be able to provide optimal service to our customers, manage our employees appropriately and manage the business, requires more than a 70 percent increase in inflation.


So could we do it?  Absolutely.  I think there would be huge costs to doing so, and that would be what you'd have to balance against value for your ratepayers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I have obviously gone off on a cough-induced tangent here, but -- blame it on the cough.  I want to bring this back to the corporate cost allocations for a second, since that's what we're talking about.


This figure of 1,873,000, that's not the whole cost of stock-based compensation, is it?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's the direct expense to EGD.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But built into the charges for the EI people are their stock-based compensation; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  There would be layered on in the fully allocated cost to those departments for those individuals receiving them, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And what's the total amount of that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm sorry, I don't have that off the top of my head.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you undertake to provide that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  What is it exactly you're looking for?


MR. SHEPHERD:  The total amount of the stock-based compensation included in the corporate cost allocations, including both the 1,873,000 and everything else that is built in for stock-based compensation.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay, understanding that within the total compensation and benefits service, the administration of those programs, the development of them is -- also, there's a component in there relating to --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, include that, too.  Break it out any way you like, but include that, too, absolutely.


MR. BATTISTA:  We will give that undertaking J10.1, and at this point, Mr. Shepherd, could you summarize that into ten words?  I can't do that.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm having a little trouble, too.


MS. NOWINA:  However many words it takes, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, the total amount of stock-based compensation, including all of the corporate ‑‑ included in all of the corporate cost allocation amounts.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  So that's not only the cost of the options, the expense of the options, but the cost to develop programs and administer those?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  And if you can break it out between direct, indirect and administration, that would be useful.

UNDERTAKING NO. J10.1:  TOTAL AMOUNT OF STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION INCLUDED IN ALL CORPORATE COST ALLOCATION AMOUNTS

MS. PERSAD:  Just a point of clarification, is that just to EGD?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  Well, I said included in the 21.3, that has a certain total stock-based compensation number built right into it; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  For the ‑‑


MS. PERSAD:  There is a direct charge.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is actually three components, I think we just heard.  There's the direct charge, there is the indirect loading as part of the costs of the other people and --


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Which is EI.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That's right, EI people.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And there is it the administration of it?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Administration and program development, right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And the last thing on the stock-based compensation is, the allocation factor for this I saw is affiliate head count specific.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Is that ‑ is what is being allocated to EGD the actual value of the stock options for EGD people, or is it some formula?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's my understanding, but I probably should defer that final answer to the third panel.  But that represents all of the individuals with Enbridge Gas Distribution who receive stock options; that's the expense for those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So somebody actually went through the list and said, Here is the people who have stock options that vested in 2004.  Here is the value of those options.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  And for EGD employees, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the total is a 1,873,000?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But you're not sure.  You think that is true?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  I know that the RCAM methodology has produced the amount of ‑‑ let me just make sure I have the number right ‑‑ 1.9 million.  That's the RCAM methodology that is used to ‑‑ from a -- rate-making purposes, that's what we're requesting recovery for.  That is not the same expense that's calculated under the Black Schultz methodology, the CICA methodology, that is used in the actual books and the transfer between Enbridge Gas Distribution and EI.  So, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But ‑‑


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That amount represents the stock options relating to Enbridge Gas Distribution employees.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The 1,873,000 is that; is specifically the EGD people who had options?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Under the RCAM methodology, which is a different valuation, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I want you to turn to an exhibit we filed yesterday, Exhibit K9.5.  Can you take a look at that, please?


Do you have that?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  You have -- Ms. Haberbusch, you're the purchaser of quite a number of these services; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So let's take an example.  I see a line here called "Employee Development".


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Which is number 11.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you talked about that, in fact, this morning a little bit.


Now, what this says - and we went through how this was calculated yesterday.  I think Mr. Player agreed that the calculation method is correct, although he doesn't necessarily like the numbers.  

     The -- what this says is that you're being billed-out for these services at an average rate of $468,000 per year per person that’s providing these services.  Do you see that?

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I see that that’s what it says, yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you understand that figure? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I understand the way it is calculated. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- I don't agree with the conclusion, but go ahead.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, why don't you agree with the conclusion? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  This is implying that you could distill this service down to two to three FTEs, by taking a composite of a number of different employees' time, from the CEO level down to the program-developers at the manager level.  To distill that down into two to three people, I think, is misleading.  And to be able to say I could get those comparable services by two to three FTEs, I think, is not correct.  

     So I'm not sure that I see the relevance of the calculation.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- all right.  Well, the FTE’s required number comes from Deloitte.  You say they're wrong? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  No.  I'm saying that’s adding up components of different individuals’ time, which I don't think is reasonable to lump into one to two FTEs. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  No, that's not, actually, what it is.  What it is is, their report says that, in order to replace these services, internally, at EGD -- you could do it if you hired two to three people. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Then I would fundamentally take issue with that.  Having had that function within the utility, and, in fact, having been personally responsible for it -- six or seven years ago, I had a staff of 11 doing all of those HR planning and employee-development activities.       MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So -- but you're actually not even getting one FTE, now, are you? They -- you have bits and pieces of a whole bunch of people, but they don't even total up to one person, do they? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.  But what I get, in terms of the service - which I think is the important thing we have to come back to - is, I get an Enbridge Inc. employee who does a lot of the program project-management and project-delivery, and manages a group of resources across the enterprise, and provides resources from all the different entities, including EGD, to develop a product that, if I developed in-house, I would have to hire more than .9 or .7 of a person to do. 

     So I'm getting the value of having an Enbridge Inc. resource that's centralizing some of that activity, and acting as a project manager to get -- using -- utilizing resources across the enterprise to get a product for me at a very low cost.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.   Mr. -- excuse me.   .7 of a person at 2,080 hours, is 1,456 hours.  So I take it that that's how many hours of work you're getting from EI for this service; is that fair? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm not sure if that's the direct allocations that are used to calculate that, or -- I don't know if that’s including the enterprise-wide component -- the indivisible piece.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I don't see any indivisible piece in here, so, I guess, that must be everything.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think that might just be, then, related to the direct component.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So you think that it's actually costing you more than $326,000 for this? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think that there’s a lot more of -- service that's being -- than is being reflected, there.  I think there’s more service than is reflected, in being able to replicate it for two to three people.  And I'm not sure where the .7 is coming from, exactly.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, the -- here’s what Deloitte said.  Deloitte said the cost is $326,911, and that works out to

-- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's allocation yes. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  -- $225 an hour, if you assume that people work 2,080 hours a year.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So the math is, that’s .7 of a person.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And .7 of 2,080 is 1,456 hours; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Right.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So that’s how many hours of service you're getting -- 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.

     MR. SHEPHER:  -- for this.  And you're paying $225 an hour for it. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay?

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I understand. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But you say you would need ten people to do that.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I said that, in the past, six years ago, that that was the amount of the staff that were doing similar functions within EGD.  I don't believe I would need quite as many, because there's been some technological increases, for example.  A lot of the administration of training programs and different things would be reduced.  So -- I would definitely need more than two to three. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So two would be 4,160 hours, and three would be 6,240 hours.  So you’d need more than that many hours of work, internally, to do what the EI people do in 1,456 hours; is that right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, presumably.  And my understanding, too, is these are fully-loaded costs, correct? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Okay.  So, yes, because the other thing that this isn't taking into account is the fact that, while Enbridge Inc. staff, within the employee-development function, are coordinating a lot of the projects and the initiatives, we're also utilizing resources from the other affiliates to staff those projects.  Those aren't reflected in those numbers, but I'm getting the value of that, basically, for free.  

     If I was doing that internally, I would have to staff the full project with EGD resources. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So these charges, they don't include the costs of the affiliates in assisting on this.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Correct.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  So, if EGD assists EI in providing a service to another affiliate, EGD doesn't get anything for that? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  The only thing that EGD would assist and provide resources to, would be for enterprise-wide projects, which EGD is a -- receives a direct benefit for, as well.  So we would provide project resources to ensure our needs are being met, but we certainly wouldn't provide resources for a project that one of the other affiliates was undertaking on their own, or for their own benefit.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Ms. Haberbusch, how many employees do you have reporting to you? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  27.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  How many employees do you have that have a fully-loaded all-in cost, excluding rate of return, of $468,000? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I haven't calculated the

fully-allocated costs for my employees, so I couldn't give you that comparison. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, it's true that you don't have any, do you?  You're fully-loaded cost isn't even $468,000, is it? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't know.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Who would know that? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I don't believe it’s been done.  I believe we would have to make that determination. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  But, certainly, when you're talking about the corporate function, you're dealing with an employee-base that is significantly different than looking at the fully-allocated and loaded cost of the average EGD employee.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, they better be, if they can do in 1,456 hours what you can't do in 6,240.  You know, they say about the PGA tour, “these guys are good.”  But the guys in Calgary would have to be really good; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, you're dealing with a different make-up of employee-base, so --

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  -- it's apples-to-oranges comparison.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  When you signed this schedule as a service recipient, you first determined that you wanted the services; right?   That was separate? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  It's actually a service that we have been receiving for a number of years.  So, yes, in the initial discussion, when the first draft of the outline of the services were brought for my review -- yes, I made the determination that it still made sense to have Enbridge Inc. provide that service.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And then you got the number -- they told you how much you'd have to pay for it; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't know how much you're actually paying for it:  I think we confirmed that earlier.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Well, we know -- you have to understand that this is an approximation at this point, because we don't have the 2006 valuations yet.  Do I understand the basis of the calculation?  Yes, I think so.  So -- 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no --  but you're asking the ratepayers to pay $326,000 for this; right?  For this service. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  $326,000? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  For -- the service we're talking about is employee development. 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  I'm sorry.  I thought we were back to stock-based compensation.  Which one are we talking about?  Employee development? 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Employee development.  

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And so, when you got that number - 326 - you had to assess, is this fair value? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes, that's correct. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And you said, Well I've been here a long time, and you used to have a whole lot of people doing this, so -- it would have cost more than 326 to do it internally; right? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  That was part of the process.  It was a little more sophisticated than that.  I have a very good understanding of the services that are being provided, what the resources are that are required to do that, with the level of skills that are required, what the market rate would be to hire someone to do those kinds of skills.  So, yes, I think it is based on having some pretty good knowledge and judgment.  

     MR. SHEPHERD:  You could go out to Mercer and get these -- or Towers Perrin, or somebody like that, and get these services; right, or most of them? 

     MS. HABERBUSCH:  Some, in that category.  Not all. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And one of your considerations is, it would cost more to go out to a consultant at this point in time than these prices; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  It would.  I'm not sure that all of them would be even able to receive from a third party.  Some of those employee-related things are more internal to the understanding of the business and making sure that all of our intranet systems are in alignment to support the direction of EGD, but some could be contracted for, yes.  


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, when you got the number, you didn't actually go out and, like, call other people and see what they would charge for stuff, did you?  You just ‑‑ you have a lot of experience.  You know how much things cost and you said, Okay, intuitively this is a good number; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Yes.  In fact, we do have some understanding of external costs to develop learning programs, for example.  We have within EGD sometimes contracted out some of that work for EGD-specific programs that we may or may not have had the expertise in house to develop.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My point is you didn't sit down and calculate whether you could do it for less?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I didn't do a formalized cost benefit analysis, but I certainly had enough of an understanding to be able to do a rough understanding of the costs that would be involved so that I could absolutely say this was a deal.


MR. SHEPHERD:  There is no piece of paper where you did a calculation anywhere, is there?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Probably not that I kept.  I would have certainly assured myself that there was a value for those dollars.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the other thing is you didn't ask anything about EI's actual costs for delivering this, did you?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Actually, I'm probably in a more unique situation, because Mr. Lattoni's predecessor actually did share the budgets with all of the HR counsel when those were being developed, so I did actually see Enbridge Inc.'s budgets in those regards.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you looked at the salary levels they were paying and what loading was going into it, all that sort of stuff?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I have, yes, seen the budget.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you satisfied yourself that this 326,911 is costs they're actually incurring?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  That's their budgeted cost.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.  That's right.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  Obviously we don't know what they're going to incur, because this is a budget and projection for 2006.  Actually, they haven't even finished their 2006 budgets.  These numbers I believe are based on 2005 with an escalation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so did you come to the conclusion that these people were costing you $468,000 an hour -- or, a year?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I think that what you're talking about is a fully-loaded cost with all of the other elements that go in there, so, no, I don't believe that was a calculation done.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you had no information on the loadings; right?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  At that point, no, I would not have.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you since got that information?


MS. HABERBUSCH:  We have not done that assessment of fully-loaded costs nor have we done that within the utility to compare.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Finally, Mr. Neiles, let's you and I explore the same thing.  I wonder if you could look at the government relations line, line 19.  Do you see that?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it looks like you get just over half an FTE of service for about $590,000 per FTE per year; do you see that?


MR. NEILES:  I see your math, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It's not my math.  It's Deloitte’s math, isn't it?


MR. NEILES:  My measure, as I mentioned this morning, in respect of government relations, alternative service models, if you look at the all-in - I think it is $349,000 - would buy us a lobbyist in Ottawa for less than four months of the year, based on a 40-hour work week.  That wouldn't get us a lot of dedicated government relations service.  That was my measure.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How many people do you have working for you that have a fully-loaded cost of $590,000 a year?


MR. NEILES:  None.


MR. SHEPHERD:  None.  And what investigations did you do, at the time you signed the service schedule, to determine whether this cost of $349,000 was the real cost EI was incurring?


MR. NEILES:  I am familiar with the government relations service.  I am familiar with our needs, the time spent to deliver that service, and I calculated the cost to provide that service through alternative ways, one of them being an external GR practitioner, or, alternatively, the cost to hire a senior individual and the costs associated with the incremental involvement of senior EGD staff, if this was to be conducted on a stand‑alone basis.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That wasn't my question.  I wasn't asking about value.  That's a separate issue.  Remember the distinction - which, obviously, it wasn't topmost in your minds when you were signing these things - the distinction between cost and fair market value.  It's the lower of those two that EI gets to charge you; right?


MR. NEILES:  Correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you did an investigation about whether you were getting good value, but you did no investigation about whether you were paying real cost, did you?


MR. NEILES:  I know that these are real costs, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  How do you know that?


MR. NEILES:  In respect of the government relations service, two years ago I ran that organization for Enbridge Inc., so I am intimately aware of that budget.  I developed it and ran that department for five years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, but government relations includes more than just the government relations department, doesn't it?


MR. NEILES:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So are you intimately familiar with -- what is it?  The CEO's department is included in there, too; right?


MR. NEILES:  A portion of his time is allocated to that, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Are you intimately familiar with his budget?


MR. NEILES:  No, I'm not.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I have no more questions.


MR. NEILES:  I am...

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.  Mr. Millar.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MR. MILLAR:

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to start with a clarification issue.  I think it was in the testimony we heard yesterday that somebody mentioned that currently EI does not formally docket its time for the services it provides to EGD, but I think I heard that in the near future they were thinking of moving to -- I'm not sure if it was a docketing-based system or not, but a more careful measurement of time.  Could somebody comment on that?


MR. NEILES:  We will be preparing at Enbridge Gas Distribution our 2007 application this fall for filing sometime later this year.  And to file that application, we are going to need time estimates from Enbridge Inc. for all of these services.  So what I intended to suggest this morning is that we will be talking with the service providers about their time estimates for 2007.


MR. MILLAR:  So would these be in the form of dockets like you might see a lawyer's dockets?


MR. NEILES:  Time estimates.


MR. MILLAR:  How specific would the estimates be?


MR. NEILES:  I would invite you to ask Deloitte how it conducted its cost allocation study, and perhaps they could provide you with a sense of those.


MR. MILLAR:  Would we be looking at a window?  If we're talking an estimate, obviously we're not talking a specific number.


MR. NEILES:  A window?


MR. MILLAR:  A window of time, if it's 10 to 20 hours, or something of that nature.


MR. NEILES:  I think what we're looking for is an estimate of the time to be spent in that forecast year.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Oh, the total time?


MR. NEILES:  By service totals.


MR. MILLAR:  And would that time be related to the specific services provided?


MR. NEILES:  Yes, that's right.


MR. MILLAR:  And did I hear you correctly ‑‑ I guess we don't know exactly what that will look like right now?


MR. NEILES:  We don't know what the outcome will be until the time estimates are submitted and discussed, but the process Deloitte and panel 3 on Monday can familiarize you with.


MR. MILLAR:  Did I hear you correctly in saying this will begin in the fall?


MR. NEILES:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And, currently, are you receiving any time estimates?


MR. NEILES:  The time estimates that we received were submitted in evidence in this application.


MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So those are the ones we already have?


MR. NEILES:  For 2006, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Those don't include actual time spent on any specific item?


MR. NEILES:  To the extent that the Enbridge Inc. service providers based their time estimates on time actually spent, I think "yes" would be the answer.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  When we look at this new ‑‑ the way things are going this fall, was it EGD who asked EI to do this?  Why the change?


MR. NEILES:  The change to?


MR. MILLAR:  To the way that you will be receiving ‑‑ you will be knowing how the time was spent.


MR. NEILES:  This is part of the service agreement that's submitted in evidence here.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.


Moving on, I think these questions will likely be for Mr. Luison, but I invite anyone who has any comment to pipe in.


I'm going to be asking some questions about gas supply, storage and transportation strategy and strategic planning services.  And I notice those are both under your bailiwick; is that correct, Mr. Luison?


MR. LUISON:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Am I right in saying that gas supply, storage and transportation strategy -- is that a part of strategic planning services?  Are they related?


MR. LUISON:  They are related.  It's not part of it.  They are related.  Strategic planning would set the bigger vision for the company as a whole.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. LUISON:  And gas supply strategy would be part of it.


MR. MILLAR:  The gas supply side, is that a subset of the strategic planning services?


MR. LUISON:  They're two separate services.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If I could turn your attention to A6, tab 10, schedule 2, appendix 6 and page 35.  This is the Deloitte methodology report, appendix 6.

     MR. LUISON:  Number 17 gas supply, storage and transportation strategy? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Page 35.  

     MR. LUISON:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I’ll just wait for the Panel to pull it up.  

     And I’m just going to read a couple of things, and make a few comments on them.  Under 17.1 -- and this is just, sort of, setting out -- this is the summary, essentially, it says:

“The gas supply, storage and transportation strategy service is responsible for the long-term, greater-than-5-year gas supply, storage and transportation strategies.  This includes providing forward-looking projections on the potential cost of the gas supply, the location of the supply and related requirements for storage and transportation.”  

     Do you see that? 





     MR. LUISON:  Yes. 

     MR. MILLAR:  What do we mean when we say “related requirements for storage and transportation?”  What might those encompass? 

     MR. LUISON:  The -- I think we're misreading it.  The storage and the transportation is related to the supply. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I see.  Okay.  Thank you.  

     If we look down to 17.3, the third paragraph.  The first sentence reads:

“The primary component of the services provided by the group VP gas strategy --”

I assume that’s short for “corporate development.”

“-- who focuses on pursuing new gas supply and transportation opportunities that help serve the Ontario market.”  

     So what we're looking at, here, is not just supply, but it includes transportation.  And I don't see storage there, but storage is a part of it, as well; is that right? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.     

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And can you please tell me who is the VP of gas strategy and corporate development?  

     MR. LUISON:  That's Mr. Letwin.      

     MR. MILLAR:  Sorry? 

     MR. LUISON:  The group VP of gas strategy?

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  

     MR. LUISON:  Mr. Letwin. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Letwin. 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  That's what I thought.  

     And it says, a sentence or so below:

“He provides advice, perspectives, strategy, direction and stakeholder-relationships management activities to Enbridge Gas Distribution, which are derived from Enbridge Inc.'s exposure to the upstream and midstream business environments, and by leveraging the Enbridge Inc.'s corporate expertise and reputation in the national and international energy business environment.”  

     Do you see that? 

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  So is he, essentially, providing advice on the -- I'm trying to get a sense of exactly what service he provides.  I see it, generally, set out there, but is he providing, for example, advice on transportation contracts, or things of that nature? 

     MR. LUISON:  Again, his -- the nature of his activities are more long-term.  

     If I can, I would direct you to -- I'm just finding an appropriate exhibit reference.  Exhibit A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1, page 78 of 132.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I have it.  In fact, I was going to go there, shortly. 

     MR. LUISON:  Okay, so I just bring you to that particular exhibit, because there are a few more examples of what Mr. Letwin does -- would be -- are illustrated.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  

     MR. LUISON:  He's overall, you know, responsible for the long-term gas strategy, supply-, transportation- and storage-related, as well. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So this would be a further breakdown of the services he would provide to EGD? 

     So let's take a look at some of them.  I see there are some examples about, just below halfway down the page.  It gives -- examples of activities related to the provision of the service include -- and we see:

“Provide long-term gas-supply forecasts and requirements analysis.”

     The second one is:

“Pursue alternative supply opportunities, to enhance the diversity and stability of long-term gas supply for Enbridge affiliates.”

     And when we say “Enbridge”, here, do we mean EI, or the entire Enbridge group of families.

     MR. LUISON:  All Enbridge affiliates. 

     MR. MILLAR:  So that would include EGD --

     MR. LUISON:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  -- and other affiliates, as well.  And EI, I’d assume.

     MR. LUISON:  Yes, sir.

     MR. MILLAR:  And it says:

“Identify additional transportation alternatives.”

     So one of his duties might be to explore -- when we talk transportation, that’s, obviously, how the gas gets from the supplier to Enbridge -- to EGD here, in Ontario? 

     MR. LUISON:  Right.  And, if examples would be helpful, I can offer a few. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  

     MR. LUISON:  I mean, in the past, that would have resulted in things like the creation of -- in the pursuit of the Alliance and Vector pipelines. 

     MR. MILLAR:  I see.  

     MR. LUISON:  In terms of examples of these earlier things, in terms of what is actually done to make it -- if we make it more real, we did a fairly extensive analysis, North American-wide, looking out long-term, of where the supply is likely to be -- come from into the different markets, where the shortage is, where the bottlenecks would be, the capacities of various pipelines serving those various markets.  

     So, based on that analysis - part of that was done internally, part of it was done using models that had been purchased outside - we were able to identify new sources of supply, that would have to be brought on long-stream, and new opportunities that would have to be pursued to meet the supply and demand balance.  And that's, for example, where the Beacon -- you know, part of where the Beacon pipeline proposition came from, to bring in more gas from the Rockies, into the Chicago market.  

     MR. SZMURLO:  If I could offer another example, Mr. Letwin might be involved, for instance, in pursuing his contacts with international gas suppliers to come up with strategies that would enable us to enter into long-term gas contracts for our L&G supplies.  And so that might -- he would be involved in the development of that alternative gas supply, as well.  

     MR. MILLAR:  And, I guess, looking down the road, presumably, EGD would get some of their gas from those sources? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  That's correct. 

     MR. MILLAR:  That's the idea behind it? 

     MR. SZMURLO:  Yes.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If I could direct you to the same exhibit we're on, now, but page 112.  

     This is another service agreement.  It’s 32, “Strategic Planning.”  

     MR. LUISON:  The one that has page 63 at the bottom? 

     MR. MILLAR:  Mine has 77/97 at the bottom.  This is A6, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix 1.  Perhaps, you're on appendix 2.  And it's page 112 of 132.  

     MR. LUISON:  Okay.  112 of 132?   Yes, I have it. 

     MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  If we look under -- about a third of the way down, we see:

“Examples of activities related to the provision of a service include, --”

This may be more for my interest than anything.  But on point 2, I see it says:

“Advise on all other aspects of the long-range plan, including opportunity-identification and selection, visioning exercises, tactical planning,” -- et cetera.  

     I'm curious, what is a visioning exercise? 

     MR. LUISON:  Those would be part of the strategic-planning process that's conducted at the Enbridge Inc. level, to look out long-term, and try to identify where, you know, the company might want to go longer-term, and, basically, how to get there.  

     MR. SZMURLO:  If I could elaborate on that a little bit.  The vision entails what businesses we want to be in.  So, for instance, given our involvement in natural gas-distribution, part of the visioning exercise might be, What logical extensions of the natural-gas distribution might we want to be in?  Which, for instance, would lead to our decision to pursue the gas-fired electricity-generation business.  So that would stem from a so-called “visioning exercise.” 

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That’s helpful, thank you.  

     If we look down the page a little bit, again, about two-thirds of the way it says:

“Examples of activities related to the provision of service includes:” -- 

And this, again, is under the gas -- group VP gas strategy and corporate development department.  The first one says:

“Participate in the planning and development of the long-range plan of all affiliates within the gas-distribution services segment.”

     And I assume some of this is incorporated in the document we looked at before?  Or am I wrong?  It sounds like this is, sort of, speaking broadly, and in the previous document we were speaking specifically.  But we're not talking about completely different things?  Or am I wrong? 

     MR. LUISON:  It -- what this relates to is Mr. Letwin's participation in the long-term -- in the long-range planning exercise of EI, which is an integrated exercise, which includes all of the affiliates, including EGD.  

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  I think you have already answered this question, but let me put it to you, again.  Does EI have an ownership interest in certain natural gas pipelines?


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Two that I can think of are Alliance and Vector, but are there other ones, as well?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LUISON:  Enbridge Inc., in total, has interest in Vector, interest in Alliance, a pipeline in the Northwest Territories.  The name is ‑‑


MR. NEILES:  Ikhio, I-K-H-I-O.


MR. SZMURLO:  I might also add there are gas-gathering systems in the United States, and most recently we acquired the natural gas transmission delivery from the Gulf of Mexico from Shell, which brings the off-shore platforms together onto the on-shore.


MR. MILLAR:  Can you confirm for me that EGD receives at least some of its gas through these pipelines?  I think we heard earlier, for example, that it does receive some from either Alliance or Vector or both of them; is that correct?


MR. LUISON:  Into EGD?


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.


MR. LUISON:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you know who at EI is responsible for the Alliance and Vector pipelines?


MS. DuPONT:  The Alliance pipeline has Enbridge Inc. representation on its board of directors, and at the current time we have Lee Cruz on that board.  I believe that Mr. Letwin is on that board, and I serve on that board.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And so Mr. Letwin is one of the people who is on that board?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes, I believe so.


MR. MILLAR:  That's the same Mr. Letwin who is the VP of gas strategy and corporate development department?


MS. DuPONT:  Yes, that's correct.  I apologize for being a little vague on that.  We just changed over our board members, but I do believe that he's been appointed.


MR. MILLAR:  Let me just ‑‑ I will get to the point here, and I would like to hear your comments on this.  I'm wondering if you -- any of you see any potential conflict between the fact that Mr. Letwin is charged with responsibility for these two pipelines, and perhaps others - I'm not sure - which presumably he is charged with getting a good return on those investments, and he is also charged with providing EGD advice on transportation issues, which I think you said includes, How do we get the gas from the source to Ontario?  


So I'm wondering if anyone can comment on how EGD ensures that it's in fact its interests that are being ‑‑ that are being represented by Mr. Letwin in his role here, and not Mr. Letwin perhaps looking out for his other responsibilities, which are those pipelines?


MR. LUISON:  You're right, Mr. Letwin has multiple responsibilities here.  Personally, I find it of benefit that he has that knowledge and those linkages into those other areas of responsibility, because it is advice that I could certainly glean information from and ‑‑ but, ultimately, myself, you know, I have to be responsible for the manner in which we make the gas arrangements into our franchise area, and I have to satisfy the Board that those are appropriate arrangements.


So, for example, one, you know, that we will face -- we will confront in the future, perhaps, Mr. Letwin is helping to pursue an LNG project in Quebec.  There are other LNG projects and other sources of supply being proposed.


He will give me, you know, advice on supply and on long‑term strategy, generally, but ultimately I will have to find the best way, the most prudent way, to source the supplies in the best interests of this company and satisfy the Board that, in fact, we have behaved prudently in that way.


So ultimately the buck rests with us to show the prudency of the actions we have taken.


MR. MILLAR:  So you're saying you take some advice from Mr. Letwin, but the final decision is yours?


MR. LUISON:  It has to be mine.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, of course.  You also mentioned LNG.  Does EI have interests in any LNG operations or projects?


MR. LUISON:  We don't own any currently.  We are pursuing Project Rabaska, which has been widely reported.  That's a one‑third ownership interest in that particular project, along with two other partners.


MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Letwin is involved in that, as well?


MR. LUISON:  Yes.  He oversees the work ongoing in that project.  


MR. MILLAR:  And in the future, if that comes on line, EGD may contract to receive gas from that facility?


MR. LUISON:  It may indeed.


MR. MILLAR:  And this would fall under the rubric of Mr. Letwin's advice to you through these service agreements?  He would be giving you advice on where you might wish to contract for LNG supplies?


MR. LUISON:  Again, Mr. Letwin's advice and the whole nature of the service is longer term in nature.  When it comes time to actually execute, that's a short-term operating decision that we will execute.


MR. MILLAR:  Are there any provisions in the service agreements that stipulate that EI, in acting for you through these service agreements, will act only in your interests and not for any interests of either EI as a whole or any of its other affiliates?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. LUISON:  I'm not aware of any.  I'd have to check, but I am not aware of any.  Again, you know, that ultimate responsibility is something I have to bring to the table.


MS. DuPONT:  If I may be permitted a comment here?


MR. MILLAR:  Of course.


MS. DuPONT:  I'm sorry, I didn't get your name.


MR. MILLAR:  It's Mr. Millar, Michael Millar.


MS. DuPONT:  Mr. Millar.  Thank you.  I think it is important, Madam Chair, to make a distinction in Mr. Letwin's responsibilities.  And I think Mr. Luison has characterized it correctly, Mr. Millar.


There are the day‑to‑day operational issues that drive EGD, and Mr. Schultz is very much on top of those and very much involved in those.  And although he does in structure report up to Mr. Letwin, I think it would be a fair characterization of his function and his relationship to say that he operates quite independently, in terms of operational decision-making and the day‑to‑day health and welfare of the Enbridge Gas Distribution entity.


Mr. Letwin's primary responsibility is looking out 5,10, 15 years to the strategic future of the enterprise.  And in that regard ‑ and I think you, again, are probably aware ‑ none of these projects come to fruition quickly.  Rabaska is who knows how far out.  


When we talk about Alliance Pipeline, certainly as we look at the Alaska gas pipeline and our fervent hope that that pipeline gets built to enhance security of supply, we would certainly see the Alliance Pipeline being part of that full solution.


Mr. Letwin, in his role with Alliance Pipeline and his very, very critical role in terms of pushing hard and trying to get Enbridge involved in the Alaska pipeline, brings a very long‑term perspective to the future of gas supply, but it's a long ways out there.  And while he may provide advice and direction from time to time within the utility, I think it is very safe to say that Mr. Schultz, as the president of the utility, is running that utility.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Persad, would you like to re‑examine your panel?


MS. PERSAD:  Yes, I would, Madam Chair.  I only have a few questions, so it's not going to take long at all.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


RE‑EXAMINATION BY MS. PERSAD:

MS. PERSAD:  Panel, my first question relates back to cross‑examination by Mr. Warren, that occurred earlier this morning, and he engaged you in a discussion about benefits to Enbridge Inc. for activities that Enbridge Gas Distribution would be involved with and how that might be treated.


And I am wondering if the panel could comment on whether, for any of the departments that the Enbridge Gas Distribution people are responsible for, do any of those departments provide services to Enbridge Inc. for which Enbridge Gas Distribution is compensated?


MR. NEILES:  The employee communications service for EI is charged a fee of about $70,000 from EGD for some of the services involved in developing the employee news magazine I referenced earlier this morning.  So there is a flow back of some $70,000 to EGD for that service.


MS. PERSAD:  Thank you.  Actually, this is my last question.  Mr. Warren, again, I believe it was, spoke about the amount of the corporate cost allocations in the law department.  So this would be a question to you, Mr. Neiles.


Then he ‑‑ so he looked at the global amount of the corporate cost allocations in the law department, and that was in the law department O&M budget.  And I don't need you to turn that up, but it was ‑‑ if you look at ‑‑ probably the easiest reference would be K6‑4.  That was the O&M budget work sheet.  I'm not sure if you have that.


MR. NEILES:  Is that the VECC exhibit?


MS. PERSAD:  No.  That was another exhibit that was provided.  So if you look at item number 10, the law and asset protection department, and if you look at all the way over to column 11, it says 2006 corporate cost allocation, and you have a figure of $1 million there.


So that was roughly the amount, I believe, of corporate cost allocations that was included in the law department O&M budget.  Do you remember that?


MR. NEILES:  I recall something close to that, yes.


MS. PERSAD:  Right.  And then Mr. Warren took you to discuss in more detail the legal advice service that is provided by the corporate office, and he went through that in some detail.  But I am wondering if you could comment on whether there would be any other corporate services that would be included in that $1 million allocation in the law department?


MR. NEILES:  I believe I did reference this morning that there is a significant allocation for the board of directors' support, which was discussed yesterday.


MS. PERSAD:  So it would be more than just legal advice? 


MR. NEILES:  Yes.  Legal advice approximates less than $140,000 for that service.  The residual would be board of directors' support, perhaps some corporate secretarial.


MS. PERSAD:  Okay, thank you.  Those are all my questions, panel.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Persad.  The panel does have a couple of questions.  Ms. Chaplin.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MS. CHAPLIN:  Thank you.  I have one ‑‑ I will just find my spot here.


Mr. Neiles, Mr. Millar was asking you about your acquisition of time estimates for fiscal '07 which you will be getting this fall, and I believe he was referring back to some conversation you had with Mr. Thompson earlier today where this was also discussed.


I'm just a little unclear, because it was my ‑‑ and you will have to correct me if I'm wrong.  It was my impression that when you were speaking to Mr. Thompson, you were referring to some sort of activity you were going to undertake to ensure that -- in a sense, that the actual time that EI spent in 2006 was going to match up to the estimates that are built in the RCAM?


MR. NEILES:  I misunderstood his question and misspoke.


MS. CHAPLIN:  So will you be doing any sort of assessment, kind of an after-the-fact assessment, of the 2006 allocation as between the estimate and what time they actually spent?


MR. NEILES:  During the performance review in 2006, yes, and in the performance review in which we will evaluate the quantity and quality of the service received and the establishment of time estimates for the prospective year, there will be a reconciliation and a validation of those numbers, those estimates, but not dockets.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thanks.  That helps me.


Mr. Luison, you, I believe, described ‑‑ this question is in the emerging technology area.  I believe you described that there is some activity going on within your group as regards fuel cells?


MR. LUISON:  That's correct.


MS. CHAPLIN:  And I think you described that you are acquiring a service at the corporate level that is also related to fuel cells, but outside your franchise area, focussed outside your franchise area.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. LUISON:  The two groups work together; different responsibilities.  So whereas my group would be looking at educating the market and developing applications, for example, within the franchise area specifically, Mr. Szmurlo can certainly add to this, but he would be looking more broadly to do exactly the same thing.  


As I tried to mention this morning, in order for that new technology, for example, to get adopted widely, and including our franchise area, the biggest impediment now is unit cost.  So the more of these things that you can get out into the market, the cheaper they will become, the more likely they are to be adopted.


I don't have people focussed on trying to build a market in California, for example.  Mr. Szmurlo's group would do that.  It's in my best interests that he do that, because, again, it will lead to the wider adoption of that technology, the price will come down; more likelihood for success in my franchise and more gas load, ultimately.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


I have one final question.  Let me just see if I can refer ‑‑ this refers back to some discussion you had with Mr. Warren.  I think it was a discussion sort of across the panel.  And I believe ‑‑ and the area was this idea that a certain amount of the time that Enbridge Inc. spends has to do with coordinating its multiple subsidiaries.  Does this ring a bell?  I can't remember which particular witness was addressing this.


MR. SZMURLO:  Well, that would be part of the strategic planning exercise, but ‑‑


MS. CHAPLIN:  I'm trying to get at this from sort of the higher level, that in any of these services or in any of the activities that EI is undertaking, a certain component relates to overall coordination of the group of companies.  Is that --


MR. NEILES:  Panel 3 would be able to address that at length, because they are -- and they will be able to review with you allocations from Enbridge Inc. to other Enbridge Inc. departments or services, if I could put it that way.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, yes.  Perhaps I will leave it there.  Thank you very much.


MS. HABERBUSCH:  I was going to say perhaps relating to the human resource services, if I understand your question, is there some element of activity that is undertaken just to amalgamate information, for example, that might not be required on a stand‑alone basis?


There would be a small element of that, but most of the business units aggregate all of their information within the business units for compensation-related, for performance management, for all of those types of things.  It would be a very small amount of time that an Enbridge Inc. resource would need to compile at all, say, for board of directors' submission.


MS. CHAPLIN:  Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Sommerville.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Yes, just very briefly.


Mr. Szmurlo, you indicated, in responses to Mr. Shepherd, the enterprise was pursuing and had an active interest in partnerships related to electricity generation in Ontario.  Was your interest and curiosity in developing more of those relationships restricted to EGDI's franchise area?


MR. SZMURLO:  Well, our focus is where we can build on existing energy infrastructure.  We have the best infrastructure in the EGDI franchise, but, for instance, we have interest in New Brunswick.  Through Gaz Metropolitan, we would have some interest in Quebec.  Right now, as I mentioned, our principal focus and the vast majority of our activity is focussed here in Ontario.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  But Ontario has two principal gas distribution interests, and Enbridge is one of them.


MR. SCHULTZ:  Yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And there is another one.  And would you rule out partnerships or relationships to produce electricity through gas‑fired plants outside of the Enbridge franchise area?


MR. SZMURLO:  I wouldn't rule it out, and, in fact, we're pursuing wind-powered generation activities that would be outside the Enbridge franchise.  In fact, we hope to participate next week in that.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  And those activities are being pursued as part of your group and form part of the overall cost structure, if you like, that forms the basis of the Deloitte allocation methodology; is that correct?


MR. SZMURLO:  Yes, that's correct; the overall part of it, yes.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Just on the same line, the idea of developing supply for Ontario, Ms. DuPont, you emphasized this I think in your testimony.  You're not restricting that supply to the franchise area of Enbridge Gas Distribution; is that fair?


MS. DuPONT:  I think that would be a fair comment.


MR. SOMMERVILLE:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Luison, just a brief follow-up on the fuel cell question that Ms. Chaplin asked.  So can you explain to me what the value to ratepayers is of the development of the fuel cell, especially I guess the work that EI is doing in that area?


MR. LUISON:  This would be ‑‑ well, first of all, these would be customers of ours.  So this is a service that presumably customers of ours, ratepayers, would want.  And having pursued this activity, now it's available for our customers, our ratepayers, to actually pursue, if this is something that they want.  So that's the first thing.


The second thing is with respect to us adding load.  The more we load we can add, the bigger the base on which to spread our costs around.  We are, by the rules of the Board, not allowed to make investments that are infeasible, and, hence, anything that we can add in terms of new load, any investments we have to make to add new load, are all feasible ones; all help contribute to the cost structure.  So it would put downward pressure on rates.


The services that ratepayers derive from the utility are always the same ones, if you will.  We can provide another service, a better ‑‑ a lower-priced service, or we can give security supply, more stable prices.  Those are the things that our ratepayers, our customers, can derive from this utility, so all of our activities are focussed on delivering on those things.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I understand the second part of your answer; that is, that it would produce more load.


The first part, where you were talking about these being customers of EGDI, are you suggesting that EGDI would get into the fuel cell business?


MR. LUISON:  Well, the fuel cells that are being pursued would be natural gas‑fired.  That's our interest in that.  They run off hydrogen.  The hydrogen source would be natural gas.  So that would be our interest, to see these things ‑‑ these pieces of technology get adopted and create a new gas load.


MS. NOWINA:  For the load?


MR. LUISON:  For the load.


MR. SZMURLO:  If I can offer a specific example, our pressure let-down stations, where our high pressure lines connect with the local distribution network, is a potential application for fuel cells in combination with a turbo expander.  That would utilize that energy that had been pumped into the high pressure gas that is now wasted, would be converted to electricity in parallel with a fuel cell, which would also provide electricity and the heat necessary to pre-heat the gas that would naturally cool from the pressure expansion.


So this is an application of a fuel cell that is specifically of interest to EGD and those pressure let-down stations that are part of the EGD distribution network.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Ms. Persad, do you want to re‑examine after our questions?


MS. PERSAD:  No, I don't.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Then that completes our hearing for today.  Thank you very much, panel.  You are released.


Everyone have a nice weekend.  We will see you Monday at 9 o'clock to see the last panel of cost allocation issues.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:20 p.m. 
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